The Flavor Station: A Pilot Salad Bar Trial to Increase Fruit and

Vegetable Consumption in Elementary School Children

by

Cameron Scholtz

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment Of the Requirements for the Degree Doctor of Philosophy

Approved February 2019 by the Graduate Supervisory Committee:

Carol Johnston, Chair Christy Alexon Steven Hooker David Schwake Pamela Swan Christopher Wharton

Arizona State University

May 2019

### ABSTRACT

Most American children consume less than the recommend amount of fruits and vegetables (F&V), 74% and 84%, respectively. Eating too few F&V in childhood is associated with increased risk of cardiovascular disease, hypertension, respiratory symptoms, and some cancers later in life. Adequate F&V consumption favorably impacts antioxidant status, gut flora, mood, and cognitive functioning. Nutrients such as vitamin C and fiber are only naturally occurring in plant foods. For many children, school lunches are an important source of F&V. This pilot study assessed the feasibility of providing condiments to increase children's consumption of salad bar F&V in an elementary school cafeteria at lunchtime. The trial site was a single Title 1 elementary school in a large, urban district in the greater Phoenix metropolitan area. Taste tests were conducted on three convenience samples of children in grades 3 - 7, aged 8 - 12years (n=57) to identify the most popular condiment flavors. The five highest rated flavors were made available daily at a "flavor station" in the school's lunchroom for three consecutive weeks during the Fall 2018 semester. Descriptive and inferential statistics were used to analyze data. A cost analysis was conducted for capital outlays related to the flavor station. School employee perceptions of F&V and the flavor station were assessed via posttest online surveys. Peanut butter was rated the best tasting condiment by children and was the only condiment that increased in popularity throughout the intervention. Overall, daily F&V consumption increased 17 g per child. There was a linear increase in F&V consumption during the study (r=0.986; P=0.014). As a proportion of the total F&V selected, F&V waste decreased by nearly 3%. The average daily cost of providing the flavor station was \$0.09 per student. Sixty-five percent of school staff felt that the flavor station should continue at their school. Peanut butter is an affordable,

i

nutrient-dense food that accommodates the USDA Food and Nutrition Service meal patterns and nutrition standards, and thus, is a viable strategy for increasing F&V consumption and decreasing F&V waste. The results herein inform the development of future interventions to improve the palatability of F&V for children.

## DEDICATION

I dedicate this with affection to my wonderful family. I am grateful for the love and support you gave me throughout my doctoral journey. To Dad, my biggest fan. To Mom, my sounding board. To Brendon, my inspiration.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to express my deepest appreciation to my committee chair, Dr. Carol Johnston, whose expertise and patience ensured my doctoral journey was a rewarding adventure. Her enthusiasm and support for my projects are very much appreciated. It was an honor to have studied under her tutelage.

I am grateful to Dr. Christy Alexon for her interest in my dissertation project and for her talented contributions that improved the overall quality of my work. Her passion for nutrition as a practitioner and teacher has been an inspiration to me.

I would like to express my gratitude to Dr. Steven Hooker for his positive reinforcements during my doctoral journey. He is an avid wordsmith who helped me to improve my writing competence through practiced examples and valuable critiques.

I would like to thank Dr. Pamela Swan for her expert knowledge of the research process. Her feedback and suggestions were invaluable for elevating my work to a higher professional standard. For me, she is a skillful graduate school sorcerer.

I am indebted to David Schwake for mentoring me in school nutrition, and for his undying enthusiasm for my research ideas. His advocacy for my designs opened three years of fun and rewarding research projects at Litchfield Elementary School District.

I would like to thank Dr. Christopher Wharton for his thoughtful insights during the process of writing my dissertation. His critiques of my project data were invaluable.

I wish to thank the administration, teachers, and food service staff at Litchfield Elementary School District and Corte Sierra Elementary School. Your trust in me and your support of this nutrition research helped make my dissertation project a success.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
L	LIST OF TABLESviii
L	IST OF FIGURESix
C	CHAPTER
	1 INTRODUCTION1
	Purpose of Study3
	Hypothesis4
	2 REVIEW OF LITERATURE
	Recommended Intakes of Fruits and Vegetables5
	Health Benefits of Fruit and Vegetable Consumption9
	Oxidative Stress13
	Intestinal Health18
	Cognitive Function22
	Mood23
	Food Deserts26
	School Interventions
	Taste Preferences
	Methods of Assessing Consumption and Waste33
	Changes in Fruit and Vegetable Consumption35
	Conclusion37

3	METHODS
	Phase 1: Taste Tests
	Phase 2: Flavor Station44
	Cost Analysis47
	Staff Surveys47
	Data Anaysis 48
4	RESULTS
	Taste Tests49
	Fruit and Vegetable Consumption and Waste51
	Condiment Quantities and Costs54
	Staff Surveys57
5	DISCUSSION
	Flavor Station: Qualitative Observations66
	Limitations67
	Feasibility69
	Next Steps70
	Conclusions72
REFI	ERENCES74

# APPENDIX

A	IRB APPROVAL	89
В	PROJECT TIMELINE	.93
С	TASTE TEST SURVEY	.95
D	LUNCH LINE FLOW	.97

## LIST OF TABLES

Pa	ıge
Condiment and F&V Pairings	.42
. Condiments Selected for Inclusion in Phase 2 Flavor Station	.44
. Characteristics of Phase 1 Taste Test Subjects	.49
. Counts of Lunches Purchased on Each Weekly Measurement Day	.52
. Costs and Quantities of Flavor Station Condiments Selected	.56
. Posttest Survey of Food Service Staff and Teachers	-57
Food Service Staff and Teacher Perceptions of Potential Challenges	.58

## LIST OF FIGURES

Page	Figure
Classification of phytochemical constituents in fruits and vegetables7	1.
Project Flow Diagram	2.
Condiment Taste Test Ratings and Frequency of Consumption 50	3.
Self-Reported Frequency of Consumption for Highest Rated Flavors51	4.
Daily Average Quantities of Salad Bar F&V Consumed and Wasted53	5.
Proportion of Children's Mean Consumption of Salad Bar F&V54	6.
Percent Changs in Flavor Station Condiment Selection55	7.
Salad Bar F&V Consumption and Peanut Butter Selection56	8.

### CHAPTER 1

### INTRODUCTION / RATIONALE FOR THE STUDY

In many children's lunches, fruit and vegetables (F&V) are an endangered commodity. A majority of American children consume less than the recommend amount of F&V, 74% and 84%, respectively.<sup>1</sup> Eating too few F&V in childhood is associated with increased risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD),<sup>2,3</sup> hypertension,<sup>4</sup> respiratory symptoms,<sup>5</sup> and some cancers later in life.<sup>3,6</sup> Moreover, F&V consumption in children has been associated with lower energy intakes and decreased risk of overweight and obesity.7-10 F&V are the only whole food sources of vitamin C and phytochemicals, nutrients that are not readily available in meats, fish, poultry, dairy, and refined grains. F&V, legumes, and whole grains are the only sources for dietary fiber (nondigestible carbohydrates and lignin). For some children, vitamin A, B6, and calcium may also be more readily available from plant sources. An estimated 12% - 24% of US children routinely skip breakfast,<sup>11</sup> a habit linked to reduced F&V consumption.<sup>12,13</sup> However, F&V availability at school is associated with an increased preference for vegetables outside of the school setting.<sup>14</sup> Evidence suggests that lifestyle and eating behaviors in childhood may persist into adulthood,<sup>8,15,16</sup> and since children spend a large portion of their time in school, these institutions are favorably positioned to influence healthy eating behaviors and improve diet quality.<sup>17-19</sup>

F&V consumption is linked to many health outcomes. Levels of oxidative stress may be higher in children exposed to secondhand smoke. Vitamin C is a powerful antioxidant and reduce oxidative stress that occurs from environmental exposures such as secondhand smoke. Soluble fiber is necessary to maintain optimal intestinal health. Gut microflora utilize soluble fiber to produce short chain fatty acids (SCFAs), ease bowl movements, and may improve mood and mental wellbeing. Vitamin B6 is necessary for biosynthesis of neurotransmitters, normal function of the immune system, and the production of hemoglobin.<sup>20</sup> Although readily available in animal products, the bioavailability of vitamin B6 can be diminished by cooking, freezing or other food processing, thus reaffirming the importance of including fresh vegetables in a balanced diet.<sup>21-23</sup> Although most children's diets provide adequate B6, a review of dietary recall data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES), 2003 – 2004 found that 24% of respondents who did not supplement B6 had low plasma levels (< 20 nmol/L) of pyridoxal 5'-phosphate (PLP), the active form of B6.<sup>20</sup>

The geographic location of a child's home may influence diet and health outcomes. Food deserts are residential areas without traditional grocery stores and represent neighborhoods where F&V are not easily accessible.<sup>24</sup> Food deserts have been associated with increased rates of asthma.<sup>25</sup> Increasing consumption of F&V in school may be especially important for children living in food deserts.

Research designs to promote children's F&V consumption are highly diverse. Many include some form of teacher training or additional nutrition-related curriculum. Others simply provide additional F&V to students. Some studies contain a single treatment, while others are multicomponent designs. Multicomponent interventions can be expensive and time consuming. Study durations also vary from several days or weeks to more than one year. The number of schools and students involved also differs between studies. Large studies have included 10 – 100+ schools.<sup>26,27</sup> Pilot studies typically evaluate one or several schools.<sup>28-30</sup> School food interventions typically do not report intervention costs or provide information regarding burden to school resources, making evaluations of sustainability more difficult.<sup>31,32</sup>

Most elementary school F&V studies collect consumption data through surveys or visual observation. Fewer of these studies obtain physical weights of F&V, though this method may provide more accuracy. Surveys are typically completed by parents, not students. The fallibility of using surveys to estimate dietary intake is well documented.<sup>33</sup> Additionally, there are four important quantities related to school salad bar F&V: total amount of F&V made available, total taken, total consumed, and total wasted. Most observational studies do not account for all four categories. F&V waste is not typically quantified, and it appears that no elementary school studies have quantified total available salad bar F&V.

### **Purpose of Study**

Outside of the school setting, F&V are often consumed with condiments (flavorings such as dips, dressings, spreads, and other seasonings). Although some taste related studies have been conducted with school aged children,<sup>34</sup> there is a paucity of existing research to evaluate children's condiment taste preferences in an elementary school setting. Palatability of F&V is important because repeated tasting exposure is an effective strategy to increase children's liking of F&V.<sup>34</sup> This pilot study sought to inform the development of future interventions that seek to improve the palatability of F&V for children.

To evaluate sustainability of this project, capital outlays related to the flavor station intervention were used to conduct a simple cost analysis. Staff perceptions related to the study design were assessed by post-test surveys. F&V were weighed directly prior to placing on the salad bar and at the end of the lunch period. Uneaten F&V waste from lunch trays returned by students was collected and weighed. It was hypothesized that the addition of condiments for F&V would increase the amount of F&V consumed by children at lunch.

## Hypotheses

H1: Providing condiment flavorings for salad bar F&V in an elementary school cafeteria during a three-week intervention will significantly increase children's lunch-time consumption of these fruits and vegetables.

### CHAPTER 2

### **REVIEW OF LITERATURE**

### **Recommended Intakes of Fruits and Vegetables**

Americans do not eat enough fruits and vegetables (F&V). Approximately 9% – 12% of adults aged ≥ 20 years meet federally established recommendations for F&V consumption.<sup>35,36</sup> Increased F&V consumption has been shown to decrease risk of chronic disease.<sup>2-5</sup> Higher F&V intake is associated with lower energy intake and decreased risk of overweight and obesity.7-10 Prospective cohort studies indicate an inverse relationship between F&V consumption and cardiovascular (CV) mortality. In a meta-analysis by Want et al., risk of CV mortality was decreased by 4% for each additional daily serving of F&V consumed.<sup>37</sup> Another meta-analysis by Want et al. found that individuals who consumed 3 – 5 servings of F&V per day had an 11% lower risk of stroke; those consuming >5 servings had 26% lower risk.<sup>38</sup> Federal guidelines are 1.5 - 2cups of fruits and 2 - 3 cups of vegetables per day, depending on gender and age.<sup>39</sup> The 5-a-Day for Better Health Program was established by the National Cancer Institute to boost F&V consumption for all Americans. As the name implies, this program seeks to encourage Americans to eat a diet that is rich in F&V.<sup>40</sup> Multiple factors influence children's F&V consumption, including age,<sup>41</sup> gender,<sup>42</sup> ethnicity,<sup>12,41</sup> socio-economic status,<sup>42,43</sup> taste preferences,<sup>41,44</sup> parental F&V habits,<sup>45</sup> and access to F&V at home.<sup>45</sup>

The Healthy Eating Index (HEI) is a standard measure of Americans' diet quality. Fruits and vegetables represent separate components of the index, which is comprised of a 100-point scale. Together, F&V make up 20% of the HEI 100-point scale. The HEI measures adherence to federal regulations published in the Dietary Guidelines for Americans (DGA).<sup>39</sup> The DGA recommends eating at least five servings of F&V per day. However, diet quality is not only about obtaining five servings per day, but also including a variety of F&V. Groups of F&V such as citrus, cruciferous, leafy green, as well as colors (red, orange, yellow), each provide varying amounts of essential vitamins and minerals, plus antioxidants and phytochemicals.<sup>46,47</sup> Colors often indicate the presence of phytochemicals. For example, carotenoids are yellow or orange. Lycopene, a type of carotenoid, contributes to the red color of apricots, tomatoes, and watermelon. Lycopene possesses the chemical structure of a carotene and functions as an antioxidant, but it does not exhibit vitamin A activity. Green vegetables contain chlorophyll, a substance that has demonstrated an ability to inhibit heme-induced colonic cytotoxicity. The term "phytochemicals" encompasses a broad range of chemicals found only in plants (Figure 1). Many phytochemicals have been associated with beneficial health outcomes in humans, but the evidence for dose-response relationships has not been established, and there are no specific USDA dietary guidelines for these substances.

Flavonoids are a subclass of phytochemicals found in the peels and skins of F&V and are the most common type of polyphenols, a subclass of phytochemicals. Flavonoids can be further categorized into anthocyanins (blue, purple, or red pigments), and anthoxanthins, flavonols (yellow or blue pigments), flavanols, and flavones (white pigment). Fruits such as blackcurrant, blueberries, cranberries, and raspberries are rich in anthocyanins.<sup>48</sup> These compounds can react with several species of free radicals to mitigate their harmful effects. In vivo experiments, such as those conducted by Wang et al., have demonstrated strong antioxidant effects of anthocyanins.<sup>49,50</sup> Over 250 anthocyanins can be found in nature. It is estimated that a typical American diet contains 180 – 215 mg/d of anthocyanins.<sup>49</sup> Type 2 diabetes can be exacerbated by hyperlipidemia and hyperglycemia, which subject the body to oxidative stress. Anthocyanins have been shown to inhibit the oxidation of LDL in vitro, and thus, may be beneficial in the treatment of type 2 diabetes.<sup>50</sup>



**Figure 1.** Classification of phytochemical constituents in fruits and vegetables. Adapted and modified from Nayak et al.<sup>51</sup>

The flavone content of a typical American diet is 1 g/d. In most F&V, flavone content varies slightly by season. However, a study of flavone chemistry conducted in the Netherlands found that green leafy vegetables contained five times more flavones in the summer, suggesting that flavone production may be stimulated by increased exposure to light.<sup>52</sup> Flavones may not play a significant role in human nutrition, however flavonols and flavanols are readily absorbed and metabolized. In several studies of diet content throughout the world, flavonol intake appears to vary by country, ranging from 6 g/d in Finland up to 64 g/d in Japan. Flavanols are found in fruits, tea, and wine.<sup>53</sup>

Energy dense food choices may be more affordable and easier to prepare than a meal prepared from fresh, whole foods. Quick-serve restaurants, convenience stores, and vending machines are often the most accessible sources of food. Food companies compete for consumer's attention by advertising products in print media, billboards, television, and social media. Under-consumption of F&V is not a simple matter of convenience and price.<sup>45</sup> Cooking skills, availability of F&V, and the ability to plan healthy meals must also be considered. During mealtimes, these factors converge to encourage less healthy options.<sup>45,54</sup> Convenience foods are typically processed, energy dense, and container higher amounts of saturated fat, added sugars, and sodium.<sup>45,54,55</sup> The term "Western diet" has been used to describe this pattern of eating. Conversely, a "healthy" diet is high in fruits, vegetables, and whole grains.<sup>55</sup> Moreover, adequate intake of F&V is relatively affordable. A recent USDA publication found that F&V recommendations can be met for \$2.10 - \$2.60 per day.<sup>56</sup> The Western dietary trend has been frequently observed in school-age children.

Food processing, commonly observed within Western diets, can alter the content of vital nutrients, phytochemicals, and fiber.<sup>23,48,52,53</sup> While some nutrients and dietary fiber may be reincorporated later in the manufacturing process through enrichment, other beneficial substances are often not replaced. Enrichment is the process of replacing nutrients, while "fortification" describes the practice of adding nutrients that were not originally contained in the food.<sup>57</sup> However, these practices typically do not replace other beneficial compounds found in F&V such as phytochemicals, which are only naturally occurring in plants.<sup>47</sup> Research into phytochemicals is a relatively new field.<sup>47</sup> The exact photochemical makeup of most F&V is not well understood. What is known is that phytochemicals function as antioxidants and have exhibited cancer-preventing benefits.

The recommend daily amount of F&V for boys and girls aged 6-11 is 1.5 cups and 1.5 - 2.5 cups, respectively.<sup>39</sup> Eating breakfast is an important step toward meeting these daily guidelines as research has shown that children who eat breakfast are more likely to

eat F&V than children who regularly skip breakfast.<sup>58</sup> Children who consume breakfast may perform better academically in school and have higher overall diet quality.<sup>12,13</sup> Unfortunately, breakfast consumption has declined over the past 25 years. An estimated 12% - 24% of US children may frequently begin the school day having skipped breakfast.<sup>12,13</sup> Children living in food deserts or whose parents/guardians do not provide F&V are at risk of low diet quality.<sup>59</sup> Exposure to F&V at an early age helps form healthy eating habits that can carry forward into adulthood.<sup>8</sup> School lunch provides a critical opportunity to increase their intake of F&V.<sup>17,18</sup>

In the US, all elementary school children attend lunch. Schools that participate in the US Department of Agriculture (USDA), National School Lunch Program (NSLP) are required to provide pupils with F&V at every lunch. The NSLP ensures that K - 5th grade students receive 1/2 cup of fruits and 3/4 cup of vegetables at lunch, per day, although the intake of these servings is not guaranteed.

### Health Benefits of Fruit and Vegetable Consumption

There are many benefits to children consuming adequate daily amounts of F&V. Respiratory diseases may be exacerbated by poor F&V consumption.<sup>60</sup> In a study of Swedish children aged 8 years there was an inverse relationship between total fruit consumption and rhinitis (adjusted odds ratio (aOR) = 0.62; 95% CI = 0.45-0.86). When individual F&V were analyzed, consumption of apples, pears, and carrots was also inversely correlated with IgE-mediated asthma.<sup>61</sup> A cross-sectional study of Mexican children (6 to 7 years; n=1486) found that adherence to the Mediterranean diet was protective against upper respiratory allergic symptoms including rhinitis, wheezing, sneezing, and asthma.<sup>62</sup> Another project evaluating the Mediterranean diet is the International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC) , a large cross-

sectional study of children aged 9 to 11 years encompassing 155 study locations across 22 countries.<sup>63</sup> Phase II of this study included 50,004 children aged 8 to 12 years from 20 countries. Total intakes of fruits and cooked green vegetables were each inversely correlated with current complaints of wheezing. Consuming fruits and vegetables at least once per day was correlated with lower lifetime prevalence of asthma. Conversely, consumption of a Western diet pattern  $\geq$  3 times per week was correlated with a higher lifetime prevalence of asthma.<sup>64</sup>

A key component of the Mediterranean diet pattern is a high intake of plantbased foods including F&V, grains, legumes, nuts, and seeds.<sup>65,66</sup> This diet has been evaluated for its ability to mitigate respiratory allergies. There is evidence that following the Mediterranean diet pattern may help prevent atopic disease symptoms in children.<sup>62,67</sup> A cross-sectional study by De-Batlle, et al. analyzed a random sample of Mexican children aged 6 to 7 years in Mexicali, Mexico. ISAAC food frequency questionnaires (FFQs) were completed by the children's parents. For each child, a Mediterranean diet score was computed based on self-reported 12-month dietary intake.<sup>62</sup> The diet score was originally developed by Trichopoulou, et al. to measure the Mediterranean diet's impact on all-cause mortality. The scale ranges from 0 to 9, with higher numbers indicating greater adherence to the Mediterranean diet.<sup>68</sup> In the De-Batlle study, the mean Mediterranean score was 3.7 (SD=1.3). The score was inversely correlated with a child child's odds of ever having asthma. Interestingly, junk food and fat consumption were positively correlated with the odds of ever having asthma, rhinitis, sneezing, itchy/watery eyes.<sup>62</sup> Studies have also shown that consuming a Mediterranean diet is inversely associated with current symptoms of wheezing in children.<sup>64,69</sup> The 10year ISAAC Phase Two study was setup to evaluate whether poor antioxidant and n-3

polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) status combined with a Western diet pattern is associated with complaints of allergies and asthma during the previous 12 months. Children aged 8 to 12 years were randomly selected from centers located in 20 countries. The analysis found that the Mediterranean diet was protective against current symptoms of wheezing and asthma.<sup>64</sup> Castro et al. also tested the hypothesis that the Mediterranean diet (low intake of antioxidants and PUFA and high intake of n-6 PUFA [e.g. margarine or vegetable oil]) might be associated with wheezing in Spanish preschool-age children (n=2922). Parents of the children completed ISAAC Phase III core and environmental questionnaires. Non-wheezing children consumed significantly more vegetables and cereals during the preceding 12 months. The benefits of consuming a Mediterranean diet were independent of obesity and physical activity.<sup>69</sup>

Evidence suggests that a deficiency of dietary antioxidants including vitamins C and E, and beta-carotene may be associated with asthma. Eosinophils, t-lymphocytes and macrophages are important in the body's immune response. Unfortunately, when acting in the respiratory airways these cells are known to create an abundance of oxidants. Bronchial epithelial cells are damaged or destroyed by unmitigated exposure to oxidants.<sup>70</sup> However, some studies examining dietary intake and asthma have not supported the association with antioxidants. For example, a 2005 case-control analysis by Nagel et al. found that antioxidant status did not play a significant role in asthma risk of 105 newly diagnosed cases of asthma compared with 405 controls.<sup>71</sup>

F&V may be the ideal sources of several nutrients including, including vitamin C, vitamin A, antioxidants, and phytochemicals. Dietary fiber is found in the cell walls and intracellular matrix of plants.<sup>47</sup> Consuming whole F&V may confer greater health benefits than taking the concomitant vitamins, minerals, and phytochemicals in

supplement form.<sup>72,73</sup> In a 25-day randomized controlled trial of healthy adult males (n=43), Dragsted et al compared six servings/day of F&V against supplementation with similar amounts of vitamins and minerals (V&Ms). F&V consumption, but not V&M supplementation, increased the activity of erythrocyte glutathione peroxidase, a defensive antioxidant enzyme. The amount of time before lipids are oxidized in plasma is termed the oxidation "lag time". In the Dragsted study, plasma lipid oxidation lag times was increased in both groups, but it was significantly greater in the F&V group.<sup>72</sup> Unlike consuming the recommended amount of F&V, supplementation of V&M has potential to cause more harm than benefit. A radical (sometimes referred to as "free radical") is a molecule with an unpaired electron, making it highly reactive (and damaging) to other molecules. Antioxidants work by donating an electron to a radical, which stabilizes the molecule. However, antioxidants are also able to gain an election, which can create a new radical.73 A dose-response relationship may exist between F&V consumption and lifespan. In a study of Swedish adults aged 45 to 83 years (n=71,706), consumption of >5 servings of F&V were positively correlated with longer lifespan and decrease rate of allcause mortality. For individuals consuming <5 servings of F&V, there was a linear relationship between servings and decreased lifespan with zero servings associated with a lifespan reduction of three years.<sup>74</sup> However, determining specific dose-response relationships for F&V has proven difficult. Although many cohort studies have collected data regarding the relationship between F&V intake and risk of mortality or disease, many were not sufficiently powered to achieve statistical significance.<sup>75</sup> Then there are the categories of F&V dose-response relationship to all-cause mortality, cardiovascular disease, stroke, and cancer; each likely having its own thresholds. Further complicating matters are the various categories of F&V (e.g. citrus, cruciferous, leafy green, legumes).

A systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis by Aune et al. analyzed 95 unique cohort studies encompassing Asia (n=20), Australia (n=5) Europe (n=26), and the United States (n=20). A 200 g/day incremental intake of F&V was associated with reductions in relative risk (RR) of coronary heart disease (8 – 16%), stroke (13 – 18%), cardiovascular disease (8 – 13%), total cancer (3 – 4%), and all-cause mortality (10 – 15%). The findings by Aune et al. were similar to previous meta-analyses but additionally included more studies and data for F&V subgroups. The incremental decreases in RR were significant up to 800 g/day (10 servings/day) of F&V.<sup>75</sup>

### **Oxidative Stress**

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are a byproduct of the body's metabolism of molecular oxygen (O<sub>2</sub>). These radicals are often produced mitochondrial energy production. Oxidative stress occurs when the body's production of ROS exceeds its antioxidant capabilities. This is a problem because ROS can damage DNA, lipids, proteins, and other cellular structures.<sup>76</sup> Children exposed to environmental insults such as second-hand smoke experience increased oxidative stress. Oxidative stress and poor F&V intake have been associated with increased risk of atopic diseases such as asthma.<sup>5,60,77</sup>

To reduce oxidative stress the body must either avoid creation of free radicals or mitigate their damaging effects. Free radicals introduced through the environment (smoking, air pollution, etc.) might be lessened through behavioral changes, but oxidants created through the body's normal metabolism will still exist. A diet rich in F&V may offer increased protection against damage from environmental pollutants. In a crosssectional study of coke oven workers (COW), Xie et al. found this population was exposed to high levels of toxic chemicals, including polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons.

However, the COWs who consumed a plant-based diet tended to have higher levels of antioxidants and lower levels of oxidative stress (serum malondialdehyde) and genetic damage (micronucleus MN frequency & 8-oxo-2'-deoxyguanosine).<sup>76</sup>

A cross-sectional study by Holt et al. examined food frequency questionnaires for 285 boys and girls aged 13-17 years at baseline and 2-year follow up. After adjusting for age, sex, and race, F&V consumption was significantly correlated with oxidative stress. Adolescents with higher intakes of F&V had higher serum levels of vitamin C and lower levels of inflammatory biomarkers (C-reactive protein, interleukin-6, and urinary F2-isoprostane). This study was one of the first to show a potential correlation between high flavonoid intake and low inflammation in an adolescent population.<sup>78</sup> In addition to vitamins and minerals, plants produce other substances collectively known as phytochemicals.<sup>79</sup> These non-nutrient, yet beneficial compounds include carotenoids, polyphenols, and phytoestrogens.

Carotenoids are found in F&V that are red, orange, or yellow in color.<sup>78</sup> Of the approximately 50 carotenoids found in the human, beta-carotene is perhaps the most well-known. Although not considered an essential nutrient, a beta-carotene molecule is a provitamin and can be split to form vitamin A. Beta-carotene is fat soluble and has moderate antioxidative characteristics. Its protective functions are seen in cell membranes and low-density lipoproteins. Beta-carotene is not considered a nutrient, thus no dietary reference intake (DRI) has been establised.<sup>78</sup> Lycopene is carotenoid with stronger antioxidant effects than beta-carotene. Lycopene is found in tomatoes and may reduce the risk for CVD and some types of cancer.<sup>80</sup> Taking antioxidants as supplements may not be as effective as eating whole F&V. The combination of vitamins, minerals, and phytochemicals contained in F&V appears to have an additive effect toward disease prevention.<sup>78</sup> For example, Liu et al. demonstrated that the combinations of vitamin C and phytochemicals from apples was more effective at killing cancer cells than vitamin C alone. The antioxidant capacity of 100 g of apples with skin is equivalent to 1500 mg of vitamin C. Thus, vitamin C accounted for <4% of the total antioxidant effect. Apples with skin had a higher total oxyradical scavenging capacity than apples without skin and phytochemicals account for most antioxidant activity of apples. It has been hypothesized that an individual phytochemical may not possess the same bioactive (beneficial) effects outside its constituent fruit or vegetable.<sup>81,82</sup>

Issues with lung function may increase oxidative stress. Children exposed to secondhand smoke experience higher amounts of oxidative stress.<sup>83,84</sup> Kahraman et al identified children and adolescents aged 5 - 17 years (n=40) who had been exposed to passive smoke from  $\geq 5$  cigarettes/day during the preceding six weeks. Forty age- and gender-matched subjects with no previous passive smoke exposure served as the control. Serum analysis indicated that the exposures group had significantly higher total oxidative stress than the control group. The exposure group also displayed lower levels of paraoxonase-1, a lipoprotein that supports the function of high-density lipoprotein (HDL). Asthmas sufferers with poor antioxidant status may experience more frequent and severe symptoms. Exacerbations of the disease may cause a further reduction in plasma antioxidants.<sup>70</sup> Some evidence suggests that vitamins C and E may lessen the detrimental effects of ozone on the small airways in the lungs of children.<sup>70,85</sup>

Consumption of fresh F&V is important because processed F&V may contain lower quantities of vitamins and phytochemicals. During processing, food may undergo heating, water soaking, drying/dehydration, oiling, and other production methods that change a food's natural properties. Processing also transforms polyphenolic molecules (e.g. anthocyanins, proanthocyanins), which may diminish their antioxidant capacity. Irradiation is used to destroy harmful microorganisms, but it may also damage phytochemicals and reduced antioxidant capacity.<sup>51</sup>

Beta-carotene supplementation has never been conclusively shown to be protective against cancer or cardiovascular disease.<sup>86</sup> The effectiveness of supplementing individual or combinations of vitamins and minerals in healthy populations is inconclusive. A recent review and meta-analysis by Schwingshackl et al. found that vitamin E supplementation was associated with a reduced risk of cardiovascular mortality, while supplementing folic acid was associated with lower risk of CVD. However, vitamins C, D, and K, and selenium, magnesium, and eicosatetraenoic acid where found to have no effect on any measured health outcomes. Moreover, betacarotene combined with other supplements showed no effect.

Beyond having no effect, supplementing vitamins and minerals may be harmful. Singular supplementation of beta-carotene or vitamin A may increase the risk of allcause mortality. The risk of cancer mortality was also increased from singular vitamin A supplemention.<sup>87,88</sup> Singular vitamin E may also increase the risk of all-cause mortality.<sup>88</sup> The US Preventative Task Force also specifically recommends against supplementing beta-carotene and vitamin E. A systematic review of primary prevention interventions conducted on healthy adults and published between 2005 – 2013 found null or weak evidence to support singular or combined multivitamin and mineral

supplements in the prevention of CVD and cancer.<sup>89</sup> [See page 2 of Schwingshackl article]

Polyphenols are chemicals abundant in natural plant foods that possess potent antioxidant properties. Sources of polyphenols include coffee, tea, red wine, and oregano. Polyphenols may be protective against some forms of cancer and may help regulate immune cell function. There is evidence suggesting these chemicals can reduce inflammation and decrease risk of inflammatory diseases such as arthritis, macular degeneration, and dementia.<sup>78</sup> Polyphenols in the human diet consist primarily of flavonoids. Flavonoids are found in the skins of F&V and imbue these plants with vibrant colors. In adult populations, previous studies have shown that a high flavonoid intake was associated with lower amounts of oxidative stress and inflammation.<sup>90,91</sup> Although the impact of flavonoids in children's diets has not yet been well established, children who consume F&V are at lower risk of high cholesterol and hypertension later in life.<sup>78</sup> Thus, children may benefit from consumption of flavonoid-rich fruits and vegetables. Phenolic acids protect plants from ultraviolet radiation and environmental stress and are thought to provide similar antioxidant benefits in the human diet.<sup>78</sup>

Improvements to individual health can be seen by adding one F&V serving per day. By contrast, consuming additional animal-based foods does not equate to similar benefits. Consumption of dairy products does not appear to either diminish or increase risk of all-cause mortality or cardiovascular disease.<sup>92</sup> There is a dose-response relationship between increased servings of unprocessed red meat and increased risk of all-cause mortality. Consuming up to 1 serving/d of processed meat is associated with increased all-cause and cancer mortality.<sup>93</sup>

### **Intestinal Health**

The average human body plays host for up to 100 trillion (10<sup>14</sup>) microbes consisting of 500 – 1000 different species. To illustrate this magnitude, for every human cell there are 10 bacteria.<sup>94,95</sup> Collectively, these microbes are termed the "microbiota", and their genes the "microbiome".<sup>96</sup> The enormity of the microbial population might be thought of as "organ" unto itself. Composition of the microbiome varies greatly from person to person and is significantly impacted by an individual's diet.<sup>94,97</sup>

Prebiotics are plant-derived carbohydrate compounds such as fructans and galacto-oligosaccharides that are found in some vegetables and which promote the growth of beneficial bacteria in the gut. Examples of vegetables with prebiotic activity include artichokes, asparagus, leeks, garlic, and onions. In context of the human diet, prebiotics exhibit three key characteristics: acid resistance, fermentability, and microflora selectivity. In humans, prebiotics demonstrate a characteristic resistance to stomach acidity and digestive enzymes which allows them to survive the gastric environment during transit into the intestinal tract. Once in the intestine, prebiotics are fermented by gut microflora. Composition and/or activity of beneficial bacteria (i.e. probiotics) are stimulated in the presence of prebiotics. Examples of these helpful bacteria are Lactobacillus and Bifidobacterium.98 Prebiotic F&V provide nutrients to beneficial microbes, which promote their colonization of the intestine. This is important because these microorganisms appear to impart many health benefits. Gut microflora may be protective against atopic diseases (asthma). Zuccoti et al. reviewed 17 randomized controlled trials and found that probiotic treatment for infants significantly decreased RR for eczema compared with control subjects; no similar benefits were found for decreasing asthma RR. Still, the results reinforce the notion of consuming adequate dietary fiber to support healthy gut microflora.<sup>99</sup>

The building blocks of F&V are simple and complex carbohydrates. The human body produces enzymes that break down simple carbohydrates (e.g. sugars), which are then readily absorbed in the stomach and small intestine. Starches are long strands of linked sugars that are found in abundance in vegetables and legumes such as potatoes, brown rice, and kidney beans. Dietary fibers are carbohydrates that cannot be digested by humans. While all plants contain fiber, some of the best sources include bran, dried peas and beans, F&V, whole grains, and nuts.<sup>39</sup> These fibers may be water soluble or insoluble. When dispersed in water, soluble fibers form gels and slow the passage of digested food through the gastrointestinal tract. Insoluble fibers increase bulk and enhance gut motility.<sup>100</sup> The soluble fibers are fermented by microflora in the large intestine (e.g.  $\beta$ -glucans, gums, pectin). Byproducts of their fermentation include vitamin K and the SCFAs propionate, acetate, and butyrate. Low soluble fiber intake and decreased production of SCFAs may be associated with higher risk of colon cancer.<sup>101</sup> SCFAs are an energy source in human metabolism.97,100 SCFAs may also confer antiinflammatory benefits. Species of bacteria that produce SCFAs include Bacteroides and Faecalibacterium. The presence of these beneficial microbes may inhibit gut colonization of pathogenic species.<sup>97</sup> The phytochemicals contained in soluble fiber are freed during fermentation in the gut and may provide anticarcinogenic and antioxidative benefits.<sup>94</sup> Furthermore, the intestinal absorption of other nutrients is impacted by the products of fermentation. Consumption of soluble fiber also supports healthy gut functioning through microbial diversity and preservation of the microbiome, 39,97,100 though a diet low in fiber will result in less beneficial species of gut microbes.<sup>97</sup>

The soluble fibers (e.g. cellulose, lignin) absorb water in the colon, which creates bulk and increases viscosity, and thereby eases defecation. This bulking effect also helps trigger satiety by providing a feeling of fulness. In sufficient quantities, fiber bulk can sequester potential carcinogens.<sup>101</sup> Resistant starch is another type of fiber that may protect colonocytes against the genotoxic effects of high protein and high fat diets. Functional fiber is synthetically produced from starchy foods. It can be added to foods during the manufacturing process and may confer similarly beneficial properties as naturally-occurring fibers. Overall, the consumption of adequate dietary fiber is associated with decreased risk of colon cancer, CVD, obesity, type 2 diabetes, and enhanced functioning of the immune system.<sup>94,97</sup>

Although US government guidelines count 1 cup of fruit juice as 1 fruit serving, the dietary fiber has been removed from these products and sugars may be added. Thus, fruit juices should be consumed in moderation. The 2015 DGA recommends that individuals consume at least half of fruit servings as whole fruits.<sup>39</sup> The DGA 2015-2020 set nutritional goals for daily fiber intake for children aged 4 - 8 years of 16.8 g and 19.8 g, and adolescents aged 9 - 13 years of 22.4 g and 25.2 g, respectively for females and males.<sup>39</sup> A recommend daily allowance (RDA) has not been established for fiber. The current daily adequate intake (AI) of fiber for children aged 4 - 8 years is 25 g. For children and adolescents age 9 - 13 years, the recommended fiber intake is 14 g per 1000 calories, or 31 g/day for boys and 26 g/d for girls.<sup>39</sup>

One study of preschoolers aged 2 – 5 years revealed a positive association between fiber consumption and diet quality.<sup>102</sup> Ma et al. conducted a meta-analysis of 11 prospective studies of dietary fiber and found a significant association between low fiber consumption and increased risk of proximal and distal colon cancers, +21% and +14%, respectively.<sup>103</sup> A meta-analysis of 17 prospective cohort studies by Yao et al. detected an inverse association between dietary fiber intake and risk of type 2 diabetes, and calculated a dose-response relationship in which each additional 2 g of dietary fiber intake lowered the risk of type 2 diabetes by 6%.<sup>104</sup> Kim et al. demonstrated a doseresponse relationship of soluble fiber ( $\beta$ -glucan) and insulin sensitivity in a randomized crossover study of adult obese women (n=17). Experimental meals contained either o, 2.5, 5, 7.5 or 10 g of  $\beta$ -glucan. Peak glucose levels were significantly lower for a meal containing 10 g versus 0, 2.5, and 5 g of  $\beta$ -glucan, though total area under the curve (TAU) at 2-hour follow up was not significant. Insulin sensitivity was significantly lower at 30 and 60 minutes for the 10 g meal compared with 0, 2.5, 5, and 7.5 g meals. There was an inverse linear relationship between increased  $\beta$ -glucan and decreased insulin response.<sup>105</sup> A review of literature suggests that no studies have evaluated a doseresponse relationship for fiber in children.<sup>106</sup>

Intestinal health includes a genetic component. Children may inherit some of the gut microbiome characteristics of their parents.<sup>107</sup> Although an individual's genes cannot be modified, a recent statistical analysis 1,046 adults by Rothschild et al. suggests that only a 1.9% – 8.1% of bacteria taxa are highly inheritable, and that diet and lifestyle may account for >20% of the diversity in the gut microbiome.<sup>108</sup> The inclusion of a plantbased diet may be one of the most important lifestyle modifications that an individual can make. Carcinogenic compounds can be formed during various preparation techniques. Cooking meat at high temperatures creates heterocyclic aromatic amines (HACs). Some of these HACs are believed to be positively correlated with increased risk of some cancers. N-nitroso-compounds (NOC) and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) are carcinogens that can be introduced into meats such as bacon, ham, and

sausage through the process of curing or smoking.<sup>109</sup> Increased risk of colorectal cancer from consumption of meat recently led the World Health Organization (WHO), International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) to designate red meat as "probably carcinogenic".<sup>110</sup>

### **Cognitive Function**

In school-aged children, F&V consumption is associated with better academic performance.<sup>65,111,112</sup> Consumption of fruits increases blood glucose levels which, in turn, may improve attention span. The mechanism for this is acetyl CoA, the byproduct of glycolysis. Acetyl CoA is a precursor to the neurotransmitter acetylcholine, an organic chemical necessary for neural function and cognitive performance.<sup>113</sup> A study by MacLellan et al. found that students with high academic performance were more likely to be daily F&V consumers.<sup>111</sup>

The Glycemic Index (GI) is a measure of the extent to which a food increases blood glucose concentration.<sup>114,115</sup> Foods are compared to a reference value (glucose or white bread), and ranked accordingly. A high GI food will raise blood glucose concentration more than a low or medium GI food. Fruits and non-starchy vegetables typically have low GIs because their fiber content has a blunting effect on intestinal glucose uptake. In the presence of fiber, carbohydrate absorption is more gradual, thus helping to prevent a spike in blood glucose concentration. This more stable availability of energy may improve brain function.<sup>114,115</sup>

A "junk food" diet pattern is one that includes processed foods, snack foods, added sugars, high sodium, saturated fats, and carbonated drinks.<sup>66,116</sup> Decreased consumption of junk foods and increased consumption of F&V has been positively correlated with specific academic outcomes. Surveys conducted by Øverbya et al. of 9th and 10th grade students (n=482) found those who reported frequent consumption of junk food had more difficulties with math. Conversely, there was an inverse relationship between regular fruit consumption and problems with mathmatics.<sup>112</sup> In one study, poor adherence to the Mediterranean diet pattern was correlated with lower academic performance.<sup>65</sup> Adequate and good adherence to a Mediterranean diet has been associated with improved math and language scores, and overall grade point average (GPA).<sup>66</sup>

### Mood

Mood is a subject of interest related to child wellbeing. An unsuitable balance of macronutrients and micronutrients can affect a child's mood. Evidence from previous studies suggests that the etiology of depression may be influenced by diet and nutritional status. Low consumption of nutrient dense foods and high consumption of energy dense foods appear to increase the odds of finding depression and other mood related problems in children and adolescents. For instance, a Western diet pattern containing high levels of fat and sugar may be associated with higher incidence of depression.<sup>116-118</sup>

Chronic inflammation may contribute to depression [Jacka 2007]. Colloquially, unhappy (overworked) macrophages are implicated in the development of negative feelings or depressed moods. Macrophages secrete monokines (e.g. IL-1, interferon alpha, and tumor necrosis factor), a category of cell mediators. In the 1991 paper "The Macrophage Theory of Depression", Smith proposed that excessive macrophage monokine secretion can lead to symptoms of depression. Under a typical Western diet pattern, the ratio of omega-6 to omega-3 fatty acids is increased. Omega-6 fatty acids trigger increased macrophage activity. Omega-3 do not have this effect and

eicosapentanoic acid (EPA) is an antagonist of arachidonic acid, a metabolite produced by macrophages. A diet that decreases the omega-6:omega-3 ratio will lessen macrophage activity and ease symptoms of chronic depression.<sup>119</sup> Since the time of the Smith paper, numerous studies have echoed a strong association between chronic depression and diet.<sup>120-122</sup>

The impact of dietary habits on mood is important because depressive symptoms in adolescence may persist into adulthood. Oddy et al. found that increased consumption of F&V, fish, and whole-grains was inversely correlated with inflammation and depressive symptoms in adolescents. Consuming a Western diet at 14 years of age was associated with increased inflammatory markers at 17 years.<sup>123</sup>

Subpar levels of some micronutrients may present as psychological disturbances prior to any physical symptoms [Benton].<sup>124</sup> This phenomena has been observed with thiamine,<sup>125</sup> riboflavin,<sup>126</sup> and vitamin C.<sup>127</sup> Deficiencies in folate<sup>128</sup> or B-vitamins have also been associated with depression.<sup>118,129</sup> Vitamins B6, B12, and folate are necessary for normal functioning of the brain and central nervous system. Furthermore, metabolism characteristics of b-vitamins make them prone to high turnover and body stores can fluctuate day-to-day. Herbison et al. used the Commonwealth Scientific and Industrial Research Organization FFQ to analyze the eating patterns of adolescents aged 17 years(n=709). Data were collected for the prior 12 months of eating. Youth with higher intakes of B6 and folate had lower rates of internalizing behaviors (depression and anxiety). Overall, poor status of b-vitamins and folate was associated with higher frequency of externalizing (aggressive/delinquent) behaviors. The association between b-vitamin status and folate was stronger for externalizing than internalizing behaviors. Externalizing behaviors increase risk of substance abuse in adulthood.<sup>118</sup>

The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ; Goodman, 1997) is a validated measurement of children's level of hyperactivity, conduct problems, emotional symptoms, peer problems, and pro-social behavior. These sub-scales are measured from 0 - 10, and the first four comprise a total difficulties score (0 - 40); a higher score signifying more behavior problems. The fifth pro-social scale is a reverse score of total difficulties.<sup>130</sup> A longitudinal study by Wiles et al. found that a pattern of poor diet quality between the ages of 4.5 to 7 years was a positively associated with an increased SDQ score.<sup>116</sup> Eating a variety of F&V may also improve mood and quality of sleep.<sup>120</sup>

Vitamin B6 is implicated in depression and sleep quality due to its involvement in the synthesis of serotonin, a neurotransmitter. Vitamin B6 is also involved in amino acid metabolism and hemoglobin synthesis and PLP is involved in dozens of enzyme functions. The best sources of vitamin B6 are beef, poultry, and fish. However, the molecule can be destroyed by freezing or cooking. Thus, F&V are important alternative sources of vitamin B6. Dark leafy green vegetables, avocados, papayas, oranges, cantaloupe, and bananas are good sources of B6 that can be served raw at a salad bar. In a cross-sectional study of Japanese adolescents, increased vitamin B6 intake was negatively correlated with depressive symptoms.<sup>131</sup>

Poor nutrition potentially enables a cascade of unwanted behaviors and events. A child with poor F&V intake is more likely to be deficient in some nutrients, which affects behavior and mood, and may lead to aggressiveness. The Health Behaviour in School-Aged Children study (HBSC) is a worldwide collaboration with the WHO. Jackson et al. analyzed data from HBSC for U.S. children aged 10- 17 years. Children who reported the lowest F&V intake had 46% increased odds of displaying bullying behavior. Moreover, poor nutrition was more influential in causing non-deviant youth to become bullies.

Non-deviant youth with the poorest nutrition (highest junk food intake scores) had 171% higher odds of externalizing bulling behavior compared with deviant youth who had the lowest junk food intake. Non-deviant youth with the lowest F&V consumption had 108% increase odds of bullying compared to non-deviant youth with the highest F&V intake.<sup>132</sup>

#### **Food Deserts**

There is no scientific consensus as to the definition of food deserts. The US Department of Agriculture defines a food desert as a census tract that has low income (poverty rate  $\geq$  20% or median family income is  $\leq$  80% of the State-wide median family income) and  $\geq$  33% of live more than 1 mile away (or 20 miles away in the case of rural areas) from the nearest supermarket, supercenter, or large grocery store.<sup>133</sup> Typically, the term refers to some degree of reduced availability of F&V, whole grains, low-fat milk, and other foods that comprise a healthy diet.<sup>24,134</sup> Food deserts are areas where nutritious foods are less accessible due to inconvenience, geographic distance, economic factors, and/or a paucity of F&V variety. Absence of a supermarket is typical of a food desert setting.<sup>24,39</sup> Living in a food desert may increase risk of diet-related diseases including atopic diseases, diabetes, cancer, cardiovascular disease, and obesity.<sup>24,25,134</sup>

Easy access to foods that are less nutrient dense may negatively impact children's F&V consumption.<sup>59,135</sup> Timperio et al. examined associations between types of food stores and children's F&V intake. Surveys were conducted with Australian parents of 340 children aged 5 - 6 and 461 aged 10 - 12 years. The influence of family socioeconomic status was partially controlled by randomly sampling parents from low, medium, and high socioeconomic areas. The parents ranked their children's frequency of consuming 14 types of fruits and 13 types of vegetables. Availability of five types of food sellers (e.g. greengrocer, supermarket, convenience store, fast food store, and café/restaurant) were
determined by using a geographic information system (GIS). Seventy percent of the children had none of these food store types within 0.5 miles from their home. For most subjects, the closest type of food store was either a convenience store (58.2%) or café/restaurant (54.2%). Children who lived within  $\leq$  0.5 miles of a convenience store were 38% less likely to consume fruit  $\geq$  times/day and 25% less likely to consume vegetables  $\geq$  3 times/day than children who lived further from these types of stores.<sup>59</sup>

Children living in food deserts may be especially dependent on F&V served in school. Minority children and those from families living at or below the poverty threshold may be disproportionately affected.<sup>24,136</sup> Beydoun et al. analyzed data from the USDA Continuing Survey of Food Intakes by Individuals (CSFII) for years 1994 – 1996 (n=3,051), and 1998 (n=3819) for children aged 2 – 9 years. The dietary intake data consisted of two complete days of 24-hour dietary recalls. For each subject, a household-level poverty income ratio (PIR) was computed as total family income divided by the poverty threshold and children were categorized into either a low or high-income group. Children from the low-income group (PIR O - 185%) consumed less fast food and less F&V than children in the high-income group. High F&V prices were associated with lower fiber intake. Increased BMI was also associated with higher F&V prices, especially in the low-income group.<sup>136</sup>

Improved access to a greater variety of F&V may also increase consumption. Caldwell et al. used the Youth Risk Behavior Survey to survey adults and children in northern Colorado. These individuals were subjects in various community-based interventions with the goal of disseminating health and nutritional information. The respondents were asked about their prior 7 days of fruit and vegetable consumption. This survey was repeated at 1-year follow up and the respondents were asked about their

perceived access to fresh F&V. Both greater perceived access to F&V and greater availability of F&V were significantly associated with higher F&V consumption.<sup>137</sup>

Children living in areas with decreased access to fresh F&V may miss out on positive role modeling, have fewer opportunities to view positive eating behaviors, and have less frequent exposure to healthy foods.<sup>24,138</sup> French et al. conducted a 2-year intervention involving 20 secondary schools. The intervention combined greater access to low-fat foods with positive peer role modeling of health food choices. At two-year follow up, although student's perceived purchases of low-fat foods did not increase, cafeteria cash register sales data revealed a significantly higher amount of purchases of low-fat foods.<sup>138</sup> Developing positive F&V preferences may help children gravitate toward healthy food choices. Self-efficacy also plays a role in a child's ability to make healthy food choices. Jago et al. used FFQs to evaluate how behavioral and environmental variables affect children's (n=204) consumption of F&V. Children who lived nearer to convenience stores had lower F&V consumption. The regression model predicting fruit consumption revealed that fruit and fruit juices were partial mediators (34%; p=0.071) for consumption; however, this mediation was not statistically significant. The association with vegetable consumption was partially (26%; p=0.032) mediated by preferences for vegetables and was statistically significant.<sup>135</sup>

Although living in or near a food desert will present hurdles to healthy eating, parents may be well suited to help their children overcome these disadvantages. Parents can model healthy F&V eating behaviors. There may exist a relationship between parental (especially maternal) education and children's consumption of F&V. Education level is often an indicator of socioeconomic status. Cooke et al. survived 564 parents of children aged 24 to 72 months. A dichotomous variable was used to categorize parents

who left full-time education before or after the age of 21. Children ate more vegetables, but not fruit, when the parent had more education. No difference was seen in F&V consumption related to socioeconomic status. Positive parental role modeling related to dietary behaviors was also a powerful predictor of children's fruit (r=0.39; <0.004) and vegetable (r=0.49; p<0.001) intake. Breastfeeding, and introducing F&V to children at an early age (e.g. during family mealtime) were also correlated with higher child consumption of F&V.<sup>42</sup> Other studies have found contrasting results regarding socioeconomic status. Rasmussen et al. reviewed some the determinants of F&V consumption and found that higher socioeconomic status was associated with children's increased intake of F&V.<sup>43</sup> Parents can also limit their children's consumption of sugary snacks which compete with nutrient dense foods. Limiting empty calories can increase diet quality and may have the side effect of decreasing behavioral problems such as attention deficit hyperactivity disorder.<sup>139</sup>

Food deserts have also been associated with increased risk of asthma. In one chart review study, 57% of children lived >0.5 miles from a store selling F&V, and children who lived >1 mile from a grocery store had 53% higher odds of having asthma.<sup>25</sup> Low antioxidant status might partially explain this increase. Having food insecurity and living in an impoverished neighborhood by also increase perceived stress, which in turn, causes increased amounts of stress hormones to circulate throughout the body. This may increase anxiety and cause shortness of breath.

Dietary antioxidants may help reduce exercised-induced asthma.<sup>140,141</sup> Tecklenburg et al. evaluated a high-dose ascorbic acid (1,500 mg) supplement in a double-blind, cross-over, placebo-controlled trial. Subjects with exercised-induced asthma experienced significantly less asthma during the intervention than the control period.<sup>141</sup> Trenca et al. evaluated young adults (aged 18 - 39) with asthma during an ozone O<sup>3</sup> challenge. O<sup>3</sup> is an environmental air pollutant that causes oxidative damage in the human body. While the toxic effects of O<sup>3</sup> have not been well-studied in conjunction with diet, evidence suggests that a diet rich in F&V may help quench free radicals created from O<sup>3</sup> exposure. An intervention group received doses of 400 IU of vitamin E and 500 mg of vitamin C. These subjects experienced less acute bronchial responses at 35 minutes follow up.<sup>140</sup> A typical meal containing F&V does not provide these amounts of vitamins, but consuming the recommended daily amount of F&V will aid in replenishing the body's antioxidant stores.

Individuals with asthma have been shown to have suboptimal levels of circulating Glutathione peroxidase (GPx), an antioxidant that contains selenium.<sup>142,143</sup> Selenium content of foods is highly variable. Beets, cabbage, and mushrooms are sources of inorganic selenium, although the organic selenium found in animal sources is more bioavailable. The bioavailability of selenium can be affected by an individual's genotype and is also affected by the presence of other nutrients including vitamin E.<sup>144</sup>

#### **School Interventions**

From a public health perspective, changes in physical activity and diet are measured at population levels. The community environment is a popular area of study. Within communities, children spend a large portion of time in schools. Evidence suggests that school meals may be more nutritious than off-campus alternatives.<sup>12,145</sup> More than 30 million children eat lunch in school every day in the United States, making these institutions ideal locations to modify food attitudes and behaviors.<sup>146</sup> Consequently, many studies have investigated nutrition interventions in schools.<sup>147,148</sup> Interventions may be single component or multicomponent, but most have more than

one component. Multicomponent interventions differ greatly but may include teacher training, nutrition curriculums, food distribution, marketing campaigns, and parental involvement. Within a multicomponent project, the individual treatments may show varying levels of interaction. Multicomponent interventions may realize greater overall effect than single-component interventions,<sup>31,147</sup> However, a recent review by Appleton et al. suggests the existence of publication bias toward multicomponent designs because the increased costs and resources that are required by more complicated study designs are rarely put into context. Multicomponent interventions tend to be more complex, have higher costs, require additional school resources, and long-term sustainability is not often explored. The heterogenetic nature of multicomponent designs makes comparisons between these studies more difficult. School staff may also perceive multicomponent interventions to be more burdensome. Due to their high degree of variability and overhead, multicomponent interventions are not as easily repeatable.<sup>31,147</sup>

## **Taste Preferences**

Children are innately wary of new foods and may avoid opportunities to interact with and taste unfamiliar foods. This avoidance behavior, "neophobia", is an evolutionary response meant to protect against the ingestion of harmful substances. The effect can be exacerbated by ethnic traditions and cultural norms. In the school setting, a fear of new foods may prevent children from developing healthy preferences. Evidence suggests that repeated exposure to a food can reduce neophobia.<sup>34,41,149</sup>

Children form attitudes and behaviors about food through several mechanisms. Preferences are shaped by simple exposure, social context, and a reduction in neophobia. Associative learning refers to the context in which foods are presented, consumed, and the resulting outcomes; positive or negative experiences. Evidence suggests that

children's repeated exposure to flavors may improve children's liking of specific foods. The impact of repeated taste exposure is powerful enough to reverse an existing dislike for a food.<sup>149</sup> The number of exposures necessary to improve liking (or decrease disliking) is not well established. It has been estimated that as many as 8 - 15 tastings may be necessary in elementary school aged children.<sup>34</sup>

The power of repeated tastings to influence children's vegetable liking was demonstrated by Lakkukula et al. during a 10-week study of fourth- and fifth-grade students (n=360). A baseline taste test established a child's like or dislike for four different vegetables (bell pepper, carrots, peas, tomatoes). Children recorded their feelings about the vegetable on written surveys. Following the baseline tasting results, the children were separated into groups based on whether they had or had not tasted the vegetables. Ten subsequent tasting sessions (1 per week) were held. Over 10 tastings, children's mean liking for carrots, peas, and tomatoes improved. Overall, there was no significant improvement for peppers. However, children who began the intervention as "dislikers", and who participated in at least 8 tastings, increased their liking of all four vegetables.<sup>34</sup>

Bere et al. found that children's F&V intake could be increased by having greater access to F&V at home and school. However, accessibility is not always enough to improve consumption. Preferences for F&V are a critical determinant of children's consumption patterns. Children are often focus solely on taste.<sup>150</sup> Fortunately, with repeated taste exposure, an existing taste aversion can be changed into a positive preference.<sup>41,150</sup> A large survey of Minnesota middle school students (n=3957) by Neumark et al. lends credence to the importance of providing children with pleasurable tastes of F&V. Although home availability of F&V was the strongest predictor of

consumption, their model found that taste preferences were correlated with positive attitudes about health and nutrition (0.58) and self-efficacy for making healthy food choices (0.38).<sup>151</sup>

A randomized controlled trial conducted by Wardle et al. found that children's neophobia for certain vegetables could be overcome through repeated tastings. Improvement in liking was stronger in the taste exposure group than in the informationonly or passive control groups at 14-day follow up. Longer-term effects of the exposure were not measured. A potential confounder in the study was that parents conducted the tastings in absence of the investigators. It is unknown whether parents were permitted to modify vegetable flavors with condiments or other seasonings.<sup>41</sup>

# Methods of Assessing Consumption and Waste

School food interventions measure consumption through surveys, visual observation, and direct weights. Participant surveys are often used as the sole method of quantifying changes in F&V intake.<sup>26,152,153</sup> Dietary recall surveys have been used for decades to assess diet quality of individuals and populations. The memory-based nature of dietary recall surveys has been highlighted as a potential flaw in this measurement technique. NHANES is an ongoing, multi-decade project that attempts to track the health and nutritional status of Americans through annual, cross-sectional studies. A recent statistical analysis of NHANES dietary recall surveys from 1971 – 2010 found that mean reported intakes were prone to underreporting and "not physiologically plausible".<sup>33</sup> Another problem with questionnaires may be the subject's desire to omit details or please the investigator.<sup>33</sup> Surveying and interviewing protocols may induce false memories. When a subject is presented with a set of words that reflect a central theme, recall may be shape toward that theme.<sup>154,155</sup> Even when dietary recall surveys are

well-designed, their use in assessing intakes of young children (7 - 11 y) may be problematic.<sup>156</sup>

Visual observations are conducted by investigative staff using grading scales.<sup>157</sup> Some studies have employed digital photography.<sup>158</sup> There is a tendency for visual observation to overestimate actual weights of F&V and small portions may also be prone to inaccurate estimation. Accurate observation of plate waste is predicated on knowing the initial amount of F&V place on the tray.<sup>159</sup>

Unlike surveys and visual observation, the weighing of foods provides a direct measurement of quantity.<sup>157</sup> Foods can be weighed on a participant level or in aggregate. Obtaining food weights has been shown to be significantly more accurate than visual observation.<sup>157</sup> Most observational F&V interventions have not quantified waste. Thus, very few elementary school studies exist which have combined measurements of F&V taking, consumption, and waste. A review of literature did not reveal any elementary school studies that have measured the total quantity of F&V made available at a salad bar during lunch. Previous studies that have aggregated F&V weights have done so based on a representative sample, or after a subject placed the F&V on the tray.<sup>160-162</sup>

Individual tray weighing is an alternative to visual observation. Under this scheme, subjects are randomly invited to receive a marked lunch tray when paying for their lunch. The students then make their food selections, after which the designated trays are intercepted and directed to a measurement table to facilitate weighing of the F&V. Student cooperation in the process is incentivized by research staff through the provision of small gifts. The strengths of such a design are the ability to measure student consumption at the individual level and the additional demographic data that may be collected.<sup>160</sup>

#### **Changes in Fruit and Vegetable Consumption**

Many school F&V interventions result in only small improvements, or null findings.<sup>147,152,163-165</sup> A meta-analysis by Evans et al. evaluated 27 studies and found a mean daily F&V increase of 1/3 - 1/2 servings (20 – 30 g). However, most of the included studies realized no significant improvement in vegetable consumption. Interestingly, any improvements in vegetable intake (0.07 servings) were voided by the exclusion of fruit juice.<sup>147</sup> A multicomponent intervention by Ransley et al. included free daily F&V, teacher training, marketing, cooking activities, and games in a cohort of 3703 children aged 4 – 6 years, in 92 schools. For students aged 6 years, the intervention group's mean serving intake was 0.5 servings higher at 3 months compared with the control's intake, but at 7 months there was no difference between the groups (0.00 servings).<sup>152</sup>

Extrication of single effects in multicomponent designs can be difficult. A mitigating strategy is to include a control group that receives only one of the interventions. A two-year study in The Netherlands at primary schools compared a single-component F&V intervention with a multicomponent nutrition intervention. Six schools were randomly assigned to receive either one extra serving of F&V, or a program that included classroom nutrition lessons and parental involvement. Six other schools served as controls. At the 20-month follow up, children in single intervention had a 7.2 g/day increase in fruit consumption, while those in the multicomponent increased intake to 15.2 g/day. No significant changes were detected in vegetable intake. These intakes were measured indirectly by surveying parents. Fruit juice was included in the intake calculations.<sup>163</sup>

Some multicomponent interventions include a physical activity (PA) component. The Active Programme Promoting Lifestyle in Schools (APPLES) is a school-based obesity prevention program that incorporates PA and nutrition. APPLES provides teacher training and assistance with modifying school lunch menus. The program was implemented over the course of one academic year. A participating school must submit a formal action plan outlying the specific PA and nutritional changes it will make. The APPLES program was evaluated in a 12-month randomized controlled trial. At 12-month follow up, there were no significant changes seen in children's PA or dietary behavior scores. There were slight improvements in children's mean daily F&V intake as measured by 24-hour recall.<sup>164</sup>

Active for Life Year 5 (AFLY5) was 2-year study design that combined PA and dietary interventions. Subjects were children aged 9 – 10 years during the intervention period and 10-11 years at follow up. One strength of this study was its 12- and 24-month measurements. The intervention ended after 12 months, so the 24-month follow up provided a glimpse of the program's long-term impact. AFLY5 was a large multicomponent design that tested a combination of five treatments at 60 primary schools in England. Teacher training, multi-media curriculum materials, additional homework, marketing, and parental involvement were the primary treatments, all of which ended after the first year. Dietary recall data was obtained through interviews with children conducted by trained field workers. No significant changes in F&V consumption were observed at 12 or 24 months. At 12 months, students in the intervention schools increased their daily F&V intake by only 0.02 servings more than the control.<sup>165</sup>

Some school F&V study designs may impart a higher degree of subject burden or necessitate greater investigator interaction. Digital photography has been used to

estimate plate waste at the individual student level. Subject selection is typically randomized, and trays are colored coded to alert investigative staff about which students are being followed. To obtain a photograph of the tray, the student may be intercepted by an investigator before proceeding to eat lunch. Students are made aware that participation is optional. Although the photographs are taken after the child has made their F&V selections, the direct interaction likely increases a child's awareness that the tray contents are a focus of the intervention'.<sup>158</sup> It is unknown what amount of subject bias may be introduced through the additional student interaction required by an individual tray evaluation method.

# Conclusion

This pilot study tested the feasibility of condiment taste tests and the subsequent effects on a salad bar F&V intervention. Few school studies have measured total available salad bar F&V, amount taken, amount consumed, and amount wasted. Upon review of the existing literature, it appears that no study has evaluated the impact of offering student-chosen condiments at an elementary school salad bar to increase F&V consumption at lunch. The taste tests provided detailed information on condiment taste preferences for 30 individual children. Taste test data included the children's favorite condiment flavors, gender, and grade level. The salad bar intervention collected total F&V available, as well as the amount of F&V taken, consumed, and wasted. Descriptive statistics and qualitative analysis were used to analyze taste test surveys and F&V data. To evaluate sustainability, capital outlays related to the flavor station were used to conduct a simple cost analysis. Staff perceptions related to the present study design were assessed by post-test surveys.

#### CHAPTER 3

## METHODS

The current pilot study tested the feasibility of using a flavor station in conjunction with salad bars to promote fruit and vegetable (F&V) consumption. Sample size did not reflect statistical considerations.<sup>166</sup> Pilot studies conducted in 1 - 4 schools are common in nutritional research and inform future full-scale trials.<sup>28-30</sup>

The study took place at Corte Sierra Elementary School (CSES; Avondale, AZ), which is one of 10 elementary schools in the Litchfield Elementary School District (LESD). CSES enrolls ~700 students spanning grades K – 5, and 50% of these children are eligible to receive NSLP free or reduced-price lunches (FRLs). The administrative staff at CSES were supportive of nutrition research, philosophically and financially, and the food service department personnel demonstrated excellent adherence to previous research protocols.

The study co-PIs (Cameron Scholtz and Dr. Carol Johnston) have previous experience with elementary school nutrition interventions. Dr. Johnston has conducted taste tests and focus groups. LESD's Director of Child Nutrition (DCN), David Schwake, RD, SNS, provided additional support for this project. Unless otherwise specified, all F&V, condiments, equipment, and food preparation services were provided by the school's food service department.

The taste testing protocol was approved by the Arizona State University (ASU) IRB (STUDY00005289), and informed consent was obtained from the parent or legal guardian, and verbal assent was attained from the child. The cafeteria intervention protocol (STUDY00008351) was deemed by the ASU IRB to be research not involving human subjects as defined by DHHS and FDA regulations. See Appendix A for IRB documentation. Participant flow and timeline for the study phases is presented in Figure 2 and Appendix B.



**Figure 2.** Project flow diagram of the process through the phases of the taste tests, flavor station baseline and posttest measurements, surveys, and cost analysis.

### **Phase 1: Taste Tests**

Condiment taste tests were conducted with convenience samples from ASU Camp CRAVE (ACC) students aged 9 - 12 years (n=9), and CSES students aged 8 - 10 years in the  $3^{rd}$  (n=23) and  $5^{th}$  (n=25) grades. Investigative staff were provided with one hour of training. Investigators worked with the DCN and school administrators to determine the schedule and location of the taste tests. Investigators prepared all condiment and F&V samples approximately 1 - 2 hours before the tastings. There were three tastings sessions (ACC=1; CSES=2), each lasting approximately 45 minutes. The ACC session took place in the ASU College of Health Solutions instructional kitchen facility. The CSES sessions were conducted in that school's cafeteria. All students were seated during testing. Students were permitted to have a bottle of water. During testing, soiled sample cups (2 oz; reditainer.com) and napkins were collected as students finished. Each child received small cups with samples of each condiment. Approximately every five minutes, a new trio of condiment/F&V samples was served to the students. Nine condiments consisting of various seasonings and toppings were tested for acceptance (Table 1). These condiments were chosen in consultation with the CSES administration, which sourced the products. Ranch dressing was included as a comparison because CSES had occasionally offered it on the salad bar during the previous school year; however, this dressing was not used on the salad bar during the present study. With each condiment sample, a small piece of fruit or vegetable (e.g. dippers) was provided. These foods were chosen based on what was typically available on the school salad bar during the fall 2018 semester. See Appendix E for examples of prepared sample cups.

	0		
Condiment	F&V 1	F&V 2	F&V 3
Cinnamon/sugar mix	Apple	Banana	Pear
Grated parmesan cheese	Apple	Celery	Cucumber
Honey	Apple	Banana	Broccoli
Hummus	Broccoli	Carrot	Tomato
Peanut butter, creamy	Apple	Banana	Celery
Sriracha	Apple	Broccoli	Cucumber
Soft cheese spread	Apple	Broccoli	Celery
Tajin	Apple	Broccoli	Cucumber
Yogurt, plain, low fat	Broccoli	Carrot	Pear
Ranch dressing	Carrot	Cucumber	Tomato

Table 1. Condiment and F&V pairings that were used in all three taste test sessions.

Children had the opportunity to taste all condiments. One 5th-grade student was following a strict ketogenic diet and only permitted to sample half of the condiment/F&V combinations. Fruits included small pieces of apple, banana, and pears. Vegetables include small pieces of broccoli, carrot, celery, cucumber, and tomato. The same condiment/F&V combinations were used for all tasting sessions. Investigators led the students through the tasting procedure with a narrative instructional script read at the beginning.

"You were given 3 cups that contain a condiment, each with a different fruit or vegetable. One at a time, we will ask you to please taste each of the condiments. You do not have to swallow it; you may spit it into your napkin after tasting. Please make sure that you taste each condiment one at a time. If you like it a lot, mark the happy face on the right. If you don't like, mark the sad face on the left. If you like it a little, or dislike it a little, mark a face in between. At the bottom of the page, there is a question about how often you eat the condiment. Please read it carefully and answer it honestly.

First taste the \_\_\_\_\_\_.

Second, taste the \_\_\_\_\_\_.

Third, taste the \_\_\_\_\_."

While tasting, the children completed a one-page survey (Appendix C).<sup>34</sup> The tasting portion of the survey contained a 7-point Likert-type scale with happy, neutral, or sad cartoon faces. These ratings from best to worst tasting were "Super good" (7), "Really good" (6), "Good" (5), "May be good/may be bad" (4), "Bad" (3), "Really bad" (2), and "Super bad" (1). The frequency question was a 6-point Likert scale: "Every day" (6), "Most days" (5), "Once a week" (4), "Several times a month" (3), "Several times a year" (2), "Rarely/never" (1). The backside of the first survey page also recorded grade level, age, and gender, but no personally identifiable information was collected. The sampling order of the condiments was the same for every child. Children were instructed to not talk with each other or view each other's papers during testing.

Survey data was manually entered into the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS (PASW), version 23, IBM Corporation. Somers, NY) by trained investigative staff and each survey form was be verified by two investigators. Descriptive statistics were computed for gender, grade, and age. Mean tasting ratings were tallied and the five highest rated condiments (cinnamon/sugar, honey, peanut butter, parmesan cheese, and yogurt) were made available at the flavor station from October 31 through November 14 of the fall 2018 semester.

### **Phase 2: Flavor Station**

Data from Phase I surveys were used to select the top five flavorings used in Phase#2 (Table 2). F&V and condiments were quantified by direct physical weighing of each. Weighing has been found to be significantly more accurate than indirect observation (e.g. graded scales, photos).<sup>157</sup> Additionally, the current study collected weights in aggregate, instead of per child. This method limited investigator interaction with students and the subject burden.

**Table 2.** Condiments selected for inclusion in the Phase 2 flavor station intervention, and the method of serving.

inter vention, una the mothod of service	
Flavoring	Serving method
Cinnamon and sugar mix (1:4)	Shakers
Grated parmesan cheese	Single-serve packet or shakers <sup>a</sup>
Honey	Single-serve packet
Peanut butter, creamy	Single-serve packet
Yogurt, plain, low fat	Tub with serving spoon

<sup>a</sup> Dispensed in single serve packets during week 1; shakers during weeks 2 - 3.

Students who brought lunch from home did not receive F&V from the salad bar. Teachers and staff who desired F&V were served from a separate source. Only F&V that originated from the salad bar were weighed. This included several prepared items such as bean salad and pasta salad with vegetables. Cooked vegetables from entrées were not weighed.

The investigative staff received one hour of hands-on training at the elementary school. Training was considered successful when direct observation affirmed the trainee's adherence to procedures. Additionally, all F&V weighing and tray waste collections were supervised by a member of the research team. New measurements were routinely compared against historical records to detect any variations in trends.

Based on historical lunch attendance records, a sufficient amount of salad bar food was prepared and weighed before the lunch shift begins. The project workflow was similar to previous plate waste trials conducted by the PIs. Students returned soiled trays to a table next to the dishwashing area. Investigative staff separated all uneaten salad bar food into separate waste bins, which were weighed at the end of each lunch period. In addition, at the end of the lunch period, the remaining (unserved) salad bar food was weighed.

All weights were measured on a digital gram scale (Smart Weigh ACE200, Chestnut Ridge, NY) and recorded to the nearest whole gram increment. Prior to each lunch period, a 5 kg laboratory calibration weight was used to calibrate the scale. Salad bar F&V and flavor station condiments were weighed (or counted) before the start of lunch, during both 20-minute intermissions, and after the lunch period. F&V waste was measured at the end of both intermissions and at the end of the lunch period.

On Monday through Wednesday of the first intervention week, the school principal used the school's intercom to announce to the student body that the flavor station offerings would begin during Wednesday's lunch. On that Wednesday morning, flavor station flyers were posted at children's eye level around the cashier's podium and throughout the salad bar and cafeteria area. The intercom promotions were not continued after the first intervention day, but the flyers remained in place for the duration of the experiment.

The lunch line flow is depicted in Appendix D. Students lined up at the cashier podium, and after paying for lunch, each student selected a tray with entrée at the hot food counter. The students proceeded along the salad bar to make F&V selections consisting of eight fruit and seven vegetable options. The students self-served these F&V using serving spoons or tongs. All students were required to select at least 1/2 cup of fruits and 3/4 cup of vegetables; this was verified by visual inspection from food service staff. Students with too few F&V were instructed to return to the salad bar to obtain their minimum amounts of F&V. After making their F&V selections, students could optionally visit the flavor station table to obtain condiments. Two flavor station tables were located on either side of the salad bar exit doors. As students exited the salad bar area, they could optionally stop at the flavor station to add condiments for their F&V. The method of condiment distribution varied (Table 2). Yogurt was served from a tub with a serving spoon. Peanut butter and honey were obtained as individually wrapped, single-serve packets. Cinnamon/sugar and parmesan cheese were dispensed from shakers. Investigative staff monitored the flavor station on test days, otherwise it was monitored by food service staff.

Two baseline measurements were made on October 17th and 24th, followed by three weeks of intervention and posttest measurements on October 31st, November 7th, and November 14th (Figure 1 and Appendix B). All field weight and counting measurements were made by two investigators. Field data (i.e., F&V and condiment measurements) were manually input into Microsoft Excel by trained investigative staff. The amount of F&V consumed per child on a given day was calculated (served - wasted) and divided by the count of lunches purchased to determine quantities per child.

## **Cost Analysis**

Peer-reviewed, published, school food interventions rarely report costs or address potential resource issues.<sup>31,32</sup> With cooperation from the DCN and school administrative staff, a limited cost analysis was performed. The cost of condiments served was totaled for each of the three intervention days. There were no additional measurable costs to provide the flavor station (e.g. new hardware, dispensers, etc.). Daily condiment costs were divided by the number of lunches purchased to determine mean cost of condiments per child.

#### **Staff Surveys**

Staff perceptions of the flavor station were assessed at the end of the trial. The DCN, school principal, teachers, and kitchen staff were invited to complete an optional (available for 2 weeks) web-based survey (Qualtrics.com). The surveys were adapted from a previous USDA Fresh Fruit and Vegetable Program evaluation report.<sup>167</sup> In keeping with the USDA's abbreviation convention, the survey instructions presented the flavor station intervention as "...an intervention to encourage fruit and vegetable consumption, known as the Flavors to promote Fruit and Vegetables Program (FFVP)". The surveys did not collect any personally identifiable information. During the third posttest week, the DCN and school principal informed staff and teachers that a FFVP survey would open the following Monday and be available for two weeks. Emails with the survey link were sent at 8am on Monday. On the following Monday, the Qualtrics system auto-generated a reminder to any recipients who had not yet responded. The DCN and the assistant school principal also sent an email reminder to their respective staff. All teachers have a school email address. Some food service staff used a shared email address and completed their surveys on a shared computer in the CSES kitchen.

# **Data Analysis**

Data were analyzed using Excel for Office (version 16.0.10730.20264, Microsoft Corporation) and the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS (PASW) version 24, IBM Corporation. Somers, NY). Basic descriptive statistics included means and standard deviations. A repeated measures test was used to analyze condiment ratings and frequency of consumption. A one-sample t-test was used to analyze F&V consumption. Pearson correlation coefficients were used to test for possible correlations among the different variables tested. Qualitative assessments established temporal trends by visual inspection of plotted means. To evaluate sustainability, capital outlays related to the flavor station intervention were used to conduct the cost analysis.

### **CHAPTER 4**

# RESULTS

During Phase 1, condiment taste tests were conducted with eligible children aged 8 - 12 years (n=57). Fifty three percent of the participants (n=27) were female, 84% were aged 8 - 10 years (n=53), and 95% were in grades 3 - 5 (n=54) (Table 3). The children judged 10 condiment samples, each with three F&V permutations, for a total of 30 different tastes per child. One 5th-grade student following a ketogenic diet was only permitted to sample half of the condiment/F&V combinations.

<b>Table 3.</b> Characteristics of children who participated in Phase 1 taste tests.					
Demographic characteristic	Subgroup	п	%		
Gender	Male	27	47		
	Female	30	53		
Age (y)	8	20	35		
	9	5	9		
	10	28	49		
	11	2	4		
	12	2	4		
Grade Level	3	23	40		
	4	2	4		
	5	29	51		
	6	1	2		
	7	2	4		

Table 3. Characteristics of children who participated in Phase 1 taste tests.

# **Taste Tests**

Data from the Phase 1 taste tests were used to design the intervention used in Phase 2. The children's highest rated condiments from the taste tests determined the flavors used in the Phase 2 intervention. Excluding ranch dressing, the top five rated flavors (displayed as mean score) were creamy peanut butter (5.3), cinnamon/sugar (5.0), honey (5.0), grated parmesan cheese (4.6), and low-fat Greek yogurt (4.4) (hedonic scale from 7 = "Super good" to 1 = "Super bad"; Figure 3; Appendix C). Other than peanut butter, mean taste ratings were not correlated with mean frequency of consumption. The condiments that were most frequently consumed outside of school were grated parmesan cheese (3.7), soft cheese (3.5), creamy peanut butter (3.3), Tajin (2.9), and Sriracha (2.8) (Fig 3 and 4). Although popular in taste, ranch dressing was not frequently consumed outside of school (2.4).



**Figure 3.** Condiment taste ratings and self-reported frequency of consumption outside of school (n=57). Ratings were a hedonic seven-point scale from 7 = Super good to 1 = Super bad. Frequencies were an ordinal six-point scale with 6 = Every day; 5 = Most days; 4 = Once a week; 3 = Several times a month; 2 = Several times a year; 1 = Rarely/never. Data were means  $\pm$  SD.



**Figure 4.** Self-reported frequency of consuming each condiment outside of school for the top five highest rated flavors (n=57).

# Fruit and Vegetable Consumption and Waste

During each intervention day of the five-week study, an average of 447 students purchased school lunch and self-served F&V at the salad bar (Table 4). There were no significant differences in the quantities of lunches purchased across the five measurement days (*P*=0.381). The average number of lunches purchased during the posttest measurement days was six percent higher than the baseline measurement days (431 vs 457). The fluctuations in student attendance were within historical parameters. There were no atypical school functions (e.g. field trips, early out) on measurement days.

Grade	Week 1 Baseline	Week 2 Baseline	Week 3 Posttest	Week 4 Posttest	Week 5 Posttest	Mean
Kindergarten	66	74	77	69	72	72
1st Grade	52	52	51	48	51	51
2nd Grade	79	81	91	79	82	82
3rd Grade	73	73	81	90	77	79
4th Grade	69	78	81	78	80	77
5th Grade	79	86	88	90	87	86
Total	418	444	469	454	449	447

**Table 4.** Counts of lunches purchased on each weekly measurement day.<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Lunch purchases did not vary significantly across time.

The amounts of salad bar F&V selected, consumed, and wasted are presented in Figure 5. Mean F&V consumption per child at baseline was 43 g and rose to 60 g at posttest week three; an overall increase of 17 g. Mean F&V waste increased from 98 g at baseline to 118 g at week three. Total F&V selection per child increased from 142 g at baseline to 178 g at week three. Over three posttest measurements, there was a significant linear trend in F&V consumption (r=0.986; P=0.014) and waste (r=0.960; p=.040). At baseline, an average of thirty percent of the F&V selected were consumed and this increased to an average of 34% for the posttest days (Figure 6; one-sample t-test P=0.002). The proportion of F&V wasted decreased from 69% at baseline to an average of 66.3% for the posttest days (Figure 5; one sample t-test P=0.015). Figure 6 displays the weekly change in proportion of F&V consumed and wasted during the trial. See Appendix E for an example of a F&V waste collection bin.



**Figure 5.** Daily average quantities per child of salad bar F&V consumed and wasted during baseline (average of two measurement days) followed by three weeks of the flavor station intervention. Chart data are grams followed by percent of total selected in parentheses (data were rounded). There was a linear trend for F&V consumption in grams over time (r=0.986; P=0.014) and for waste (r=0.960; P=.040).



**Figure 6.** The change from baseline for proportion of F&V consumed and wasted during the trial. Both trends were significant (*P*<0.05).

#### **Condiment Quantities and Costs**

Average daily peanut butter selection per child increased each week (3.7 g, 5.4 g, 6.0 g), and this linear trend was significant (r=.999; p=0.029) (Figure 7 and 8). The amount of parmesan cheese taken declined linearly over three weeks, while cinnamon/sugar, honey, and yogurt selections peaked in the second week before declining in the third week (Figure 7). During the three posttest measurement days, a total of 1,372 children purchased lunch and the total cost of condiments used was \$121.83, or \$0.09/child (Table 5). The average daily cost of providing the flavor station during each of the three weeks was \$37.33, \$47.30, and \$37.19.

Students who desired a packaged condiment (e.g. peanut butter, honey or parmesan cheese) received one packet of the respective condiment(s). The total count of peanut butter packets selected increased over the three-week intervention (82, 115, 126 packets respectively) (Table 5). The quantity of honey packet selection peaked at week 2 (69, 127, 38). Fifty-one parmesan cheese packets were selected during the first, and only, week of availability. All condiments were offered via existing kitchen hardware and utensils. The flavor station was monitored by research staff on measurement days and by food service staff on all other days. The food service department reported no additional measurable costs while providing the flavor station.



**Figure 7.** Percent changes in flavor station condiment selection during the 3-week intervention.



**Figure 8.** Salad bar F&V consumption compared with flavor station peanut butter selection during each posttest measurement day. There was a linear trend in peanut butter selection (r=.999; p=0.029).

**Table 5.** Costs and quantities of flavor station condiments selected on each posttest measurement day.<sup>a</sup>

	Week	1	Week	2	Wee	k 3
Condiment	Cost (\$)	Qty	Cost (\$)	Qty	Cost (\$)	Qty
Cinnamon/sugar	0.62		1.09		0.46	
Honey	5.01	69	9.22	127	2.76	38
Parmesan cheese	6.08	51	1.79		0.22	
Peanut butter	15.17	82	21.27	115	23.30	126
Yogurt	10.45		13.93		10.45	
Total daily cost	37.33		47.30		37.19	

<sup>a</sup> Units of measure: 1 peanut butter packet 21 g; 1 honey packet 9 g; 1/4 yogurt 57 g. Cinnamon/sugar and parmesan shaker servings were not measurable.

## **Staff Surveys**

CSES food service personnel (n=9) and teachers (n=56) were invited to complete a web-based survey regarding their opinions of F&V and the flavor station. Completed surveys were received from six food service personnel and 15 teachers (67% and 27% of the total invited employees, respectively). Most food service staff and teachers who responded to the survey strongly agreed or somewhat agreed that students like the fruits (90%) or like the vegetables (90%) (Table 6). Only 15% of food service staff and teachers agreed strongly/somewhat that the FFVP was <u>not</u> worth the effort. Sixty-five percent agreed strongly/somewhat that the FFVP should continue at their school; thirteen percent answered to the contrary ("disagree strongly" or "disagree somewhat").

	Agree	Disagree	Don't know or n/a
Question text from survey	% (n) <sup>b</sup>	% (n) <sup>c</sup>	% (n) <sup>d</sup>
Students like the FFVP fruits	90 (18)	0(0)	10 (2)
Students like the FFVP vegetables	90 (18)	0(0)	10 (2)
Students eat more fruits and vegetables at			
school on FFVP days	65 (13)	15 (3)	20 (4)
Students eat fewer unhealthy snacks at school on FEVP days	25 (7)	20 (4)	45 (0)
I think the FFVP is NOT worth the effort it	33(7)	20 (4)	45 (9)
takes	15 (3)	65 (13)	20 (4)
I would like the FFVP to continue at Corte			
Sierra	65 (13)	15 (3)	20 (4)

**Table 6.** Posttest survey of food service staff and teachers regarding opinions about the FFVP intervention at Corte Sierra Elementary School (n=20).<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Five-point Likert scale.

<sup>b</sup> "Agree strongly" (5) or "agree somewhat" (4).

<sup>c</sup> "Disagree strongly" (1) or "disagree somewhat" (2).

d n/a = "Don't know or not applicable" (3), or no answer.

Some food service staff and teachers acknowledged major or minor challenges in offering the FFVP (Table 7). Food waste, staff training or time, and neophobia were the biggest perceived challenges. Sixty percent of respondents felt that F&V waste was a major challenge. Approximately one third (35%) felt that inadequate time or inadequate training of food service staff or teachers was a major challenge. Thirty percent felt that "students don't like to try new F&V" was a major challenge, but only ten percent indicated that "students don't like F&V" was a major challenge. Most respondents (75%) did not see mess related to FFVP distribution or clean-up as a major challenge. Most respondents perceived no challenges regarding inadequacy of F&V quality, variety, or amounts (80%, 85%, and 80%, respectively).

				Don't
	Major	Minor	Not a	know
	challenge	challenge	challenge	or n/a
Question text from survey	% (n)	% (n)	% (n)	% (n)a
Students don't like fruits and				
vegetables	10 (2)	50 (10)	20 (4)	20 (4)
Students waste too much	60 (12)	20 (4)	10 (2)	10 (2)
Messy to distribute and clean up Inadequate food service staff (or	25 (5)	40 (8)	10 (2)	25 (5)
teacher) training or information Inadequate food service staff (or	35 (7)	30 (6)	15 (3)	20 (4)
teacher) time	35 (7)	35 (7)	10 (2)	20 (4)
Class time interrupted or taken				
away from student learning	20 (4)	25 (5)	20 (4)	35 (7)
Students don't like to try new fruits				
and vegetables	30(6)	45 (9)	10(2)	15(3)
Inadequate quality of FFVP produce	0 (0)	20(4)	55 (11)	25 (5)
Inadequate variety of FFVP produce	0 (0)	15 (3)	60 (12)	25 (5)
Inadequate amounts of FFVP				
produce	0 (0)	20 (4)	60 (12)	20 (4)

**Table 7.** Food service staff and teacher perceptions of potential challenges that may impact implementation of the FFVP (n=20).

a n/a = "Don't know" or no answer.

#### **CHAPTER 5**

## DISCUSSION

The 17g increase in F&V consumption noted herein is in range with changes noted in other elementary school cafeteria interventions. Miller et al. conducted a school lunch study at one elementary school with one baseline day and two posttest measurement days. That intervention tested 50% larger portion sizes of applesauce, oranges, and carrots and saw consumption increase by 42 g, 16 g, and 13 g, respectively. Whereas the present study weighed all F&V, the Miller et al. design calculated the average starting weights of 10 samples of each vegetable.<sup>168</sup> Getlinger et al. tested the effect of scheduling recess before lunch at one elementary school and reported vegetable consumption increased by 11 g, but fruit consumption decreased by 4 g.<sup>169</sup> The results of the present study are also in line with multicomponent designs. A meta-analysis by Evans et al. evaluated the impact of a variety of single- and multi-component schoolbased study designs (e.g. curricula, marketing, parental involvement, policies) and calculated a mean F&V consumption increase of 20 g, excluding fruit juice.<sup>147</sup>

Many school studies aimed at increasing F&V consumption have not reported the costs of the interventions. It is safe to assume that most multicomponent interventions have been implemented at greater expense and participant burden than the present study, yet many of those studies have recorded changes in F&V consumption similar to or less than the present study.<sup>165,170,171</sup> Horne et al. evaluated Food Dudes, a multicomponent F&V intervention, at two elementary schools in Ireland. Teachers were trained to show Food Dudes videos, distribute free F&V, measure the amount of F&V consumed, and distribute rewards to children based on their having tried or consumed the F&V. Take-home packets were distributed to parents with information and tips for

planning healthy lunches. Each packet contained a chart on which the parent was instructed to track the amount of F&V the child consumed at home. Over four posttest measurement days ending at 16 weeks, mean consumption of school-provided F&V increased 24 g.<sup>170</sup> A more recent evaluation of the long-term impact of Food Dudes at six primary schools in the UK found that daily consumption of school-supplied F&V had decreased at 12-month follow up (-5 g), calling into question the sustainability of an intervention that imparts a high degree of participant burden.<sup>171</sup>

In some previous studies, when children increased F&V selection, a potential side effect was often a concomitant rise in F&V waste.<sup>168</sup> In the present study during posttest, there was a significant increase in F&V consumption as a proportion of total selection, from 30% to 34%, and the proportion of F&V waste decreased, from 69% to 66%. This proportion of overall waste is similar to previous plate waste studies in elementary schools.<sup>168,169</sup> Miller et al. recorded 18% more applesauce waste and > 50% more orange waste during posttest. In that study, only two fruit and two vegetable options were provided, and all were served in pre-portioned, disposable cups (5 oz baseline; 8 oz intervention).<sup>168</sup> It is possible that participation was limited to students who already liked the taste of the three F&V offerings that were increased; there was no requirement to select any F&V. In the present study, CSES students self-served onto their trays from a salad bar that contained eight different fruit and seven different vegetable offerings. All CSES students who purchased lunch were required to select at least 1/2 cup of fruits and 3/4 cup of vegetables, a NSLP meal pattern requirement that was enforced by food service staff.<sup>172</sup> Visual observation by investigative staff confirmed that only a few students selected too little F&V, but many students routinely selected more than the minimum amounts.

Peanut butter was rated highest in the Phase 1 taste tests and was the most popular condiment choice of students during Phase 2. Selection of peanut butter packets increased each week during the intervention period. Selection of other condiments either peaked during week two, or in the case of parmesan cheese, declined steadily over three weeks.

In addition to its taste popularity among children, peanut butter is a nutrient dense food. The peanut (*Arachis hypogaea L.*) is a grain legume that is ranked sixth worldwide among oil crops, and thirteenth among food crops. Peanuts are considered an oil crop due to their high oil content.<sup>173</sup> School-age children may be delighted to learn that peanuts are also known throughout the world as "goobers" and "monkey nuts". Natural peanut butter (as opposed to conventional/hydrogenated) is low in sodium, containing only 6 g of salt per 30 g (1 oz) serving.<sup>174</sup> The low sodium content of peanut butter accommodates the USDA Food and Nutrition Service (FNS) meal patterns and nutrition standards which specify sodium restrictions. Canned vegetables should contain  $\leq$  140 mg of sodium per half-cup serving.<sup>172</sup> Peanut butter is also high in fiber and contains some organic acids. Two tablespoons (32 g) of peanut butter contain 188 calories, six grams of carbohydrates, 16 grams of lipids, eight grams of protein, and 1.9 grams of fiber.<sup>175</sup>

Peanuts are excellent sources of vitamin E, folate, niacin, pantothenic acid, and thiamin, as well as the minerals copper, iron, magnesium, manganese, phosphorus, and zinc. The fat content of peanut butter enhances the absorption of fat-soluble vitamins (A, D, E, and K). Peanuts contain Co-enzyme Q10, a component of the electron transport chain which is utilized in the production of adenosine triphosphate (ATP), the body's primary source of energy. Unlike animal proteins, peanuts contain phenolic acids,

flavonoids, and phytosterols, bioactive molecules that provide antioxidant benefits in the human body. All 20 amino acids are found in peanuts, including arginine, which is important for the healthy functioning of the liver, muscles, and the immune system. Peanuts also contain resveratrol, a fat-soluble antioxidant made popular by research of the "French Paradox", though its efficacy in human health has not been clearly established.<sup>176</sup>

Peanut butter is readily available as a commodity to schools that participate in the NSLP or other USDA child nutrition programs. The USDA Commodity Supplemental Food Program includes smooth peanut butter (item #100395; 12/18 oz jars). The NSLP Food Product Information Sheets allow participating schools to order peanut butter in bulk containers (item #100396; 6/5 lb) or individual packets (item # 110854; 120/1.1 oz). Peanut butter is shelf stable and can be stored for long periods, thus schools may be able to purchase larger quantities at increased savings.

Serving peanut butter in a school is not without its challenges. Some students are likely to have peanut allergies. The USDA FNS publishes "Accommodating Children with Disabilities in the School Meal Programs", guidelines that school authorities should follow to ensure that healthy food is accessible to all students. These guidelines include requirements for accommodating food allergies. A child with a peanut allergy may not be served any food that contains peanuts or includes peanuts as an ingredient. The school must provide a safe, peanut-free location where students may optionally eat their meals. (CSES has established a "peanut free table" in its cafeteria.) A school's food service department is responsible for knowing the makeup of all foods served, even those without adequate labeling. Guidelines for food storage, food preparation, and food and utensil cleaning must be followed to prevent cross contamination. The FNS does not
endorse prohibitions on allergy-prone foods or food groups (e.g. peanuts, milk, eggs, soy), but if a school does ban a specific food then that food must never appear on its campus.<sup>177</sup>

Peanut butter was rated highest in taste tests, was the most frequently consumed condiment outside of school, and appeared to be the most popular condiment that children selected for their lunch F&V. Peanut butter is robust in its ability to be paired with many different F&V (e.g apples, bananas, carrots, celery). Thus, peanut butter is an excellent choice for school administrators interested in starting a flavor station. Although some portion of the student population will likely have a peanut allergy, CSES follows USDA and local guidelines, and serves peanut butter and jelly (PBJ) sandwiches every day. In 25 years of service at CSES, the DCN had not witnessed any peanut related lunchroom issues. CSES offers three entrée foods at each lunch and due to its high popularity, PBJ sandwiches are always one of these entrées. Each day, approximately 30 – 35% of students choose PBJ for their lunch entrée.

The flavor station intervention was implemented for a total daily cost per child of only nine cents (\$0.09). Since peanut butter comprised most of this expense, using bulk peanut butter would have furthered lowered costs. Bulk peanut butter from a pump may also decrease mess and further lower staff burden. Interventions that require more complicated delivery mechanisms (e.g. custom materials, specialized curricula, activities, and/or staff/parent involvement) increase staff burden and are more expensive to implement and propagate. In the United Kingdom, the 5 A DAY Programme's school fruit and vegetable scheme (SFVS) provides one additional daily piece of fruit or vegetable per student along with F&V-related teacher training, cooking classes, and games. SFVS was established in 2004 at a cost of £42 million and received an additional

63

£77 million to continue running through 2006. A non-randomized control trial by Ransley et al. that evaluated the SFVS found that daily F&V consumption (estimated by 24-hour recall) increased by 0.5 servings at three months, but vegetable intake returned to baseline at seven months, and F&V intake was unchanged by the end of the second year.<sup>152</sup>

The surveys used in the present study were adopted from a previous evaluation of the USDA Fresh Fruit and Vegetable Program which noted response rates from food service staff and teachers of 85% and 87%, respectively.<sup>167</sup> A literature search found few previous attempts to survey the opinions of food service staff on any topic. Approximately 23 studies have cited Bartlett et al. since 2013, but none have surveyed food service staff or teachers. PubMed contained only 19 results for "school food service staff survey satisfaction"; none relevant to the present study. In the present study, most food service staff (67%) completed the survey, but the teacher response rate was lower (27%). Most CSES teachers chose not to visit the cafeteria during lunch, and thus, may have been less familiar with salad bar operations and the flavor station intervention. Compared with one study that was an unpublished dissertation, CSES food service staff appeared to have responded equally favorably toward use of the flavor station as those employees who were surveyed about using their school's computer technology for food service operations; 4.0 and 4.01, respectively (5 = "very satisfied"; 5-point Likert scale).<sup>178</sup> More studies have included teachers in F&V intervention surveys, but comparisons are still hampered by variations in survey questions and details about the reporting of survey results.

A survey of childcare providers (n=486) regarding their views on the "Color Me Healthy" physical activity and nutrition program for children aged 4 - 5 years noted that most teachers rated the program excellent or very good, 73.5% and 23.6%, respectively. The survey response rate to the printed version of the survey was 36.3% and no emailed surveys were returned.<sup>179</sup> A more recent evaluation of "Color Me Healthy" reported that ninety percent of teachers (n=10) felt their children were more willing to try F&V, but details about teacher satisfaction with the program was not reported.<sup>180</sup> Sweitzer et al. conducted a quasiexperimental, multicomponent study (parent handouts, classroom activities, educational stations, teacher training) to increase F&V consumption in children aged 3-5 years (n=132). Seventy-five percent of teachers in the intervention group indicated that the program was a "good fit" for the curriculum and environment. Teachers received \$50 gift cards for participating in interviews and records indicated that 100% of teachers participated in the F&V related classroom activities; survey response rate was not reported.<sup>181</sup> A process evaluation of the USDA Fresh Fruit and Vegetable Program at one New Jersey elementary school recorded that 82% of teachers indicated that the implementation was "very good" ("4" on a 4-point scale). However, in interviews with stakeholders (teachers and school staff), 60% expressed concern about their school's ability to implement the program, noting problems of inconsistent delivery, difficulty discussing nutrition with students, unpopularity of some F&V snacks, and shortage of volunteers.<sup>182</sup> In the present study, no food service staff or teachers indicated major challenges to implementing the flavor station.

School-based dietary interventions are compatible with other public health goals.<sup>17,39,172</sup> Although the changes detected in this intervention may not appear substantial, minor incremental improvements are often sufficient to improve the overall health of a population. Slightly lowering a risk factor for a population of children may be more beneficial than attempting to create a large impact for only the children at highest risk. Small improvements in F&V consumption at the population level may be more sustainable and better suited for encouraging long-term behavior change.<sup>183,184</sup>

#### **Flavor Station: Qualitative Observations**

Beginning two days prior to the start of the intervention, availability of the flavor station was communicated to students via flyers in the cafeteria and through morning intercom announcements from the school principal. On the first day of the intervention, most students did not appear to realize the purpose of the flavor station or how to use it. Research staff assisted the students by describing the condiment choices and suggesting applicable condiment/F&V pairings (e.g. yogurt on sliced peaches or peanut butter with apple slices). Students at CSES have a wide variety of F&V from which to choose and few lunch trays were completely alike.

The second week provided numerous changes in student behavior toward the flavor station. By this time, most students were noticeably familiar with and desiring of the flavor station condiments; a line formed on several occasions. After exiting the salad bar area, those who desired condiments would readily stop at the flavor station table. Although most students partook in at least one condiment, a minority (~10-15%) expressed no interest. The usage of parmesan cheese declined in the second week. Two changes may have influenced this trend. Individual serving packets of parmesan cheese were replaced with shakers. However, parmesan cheese was never observed to be a popular choice for F&V. During the first week, most children who selected parmesan cheese did so, not for their F&V, but for their entrées. Staff and researchers emphasized that the flavor station condiments were for F&V. During the second week some mischief was noted by school staff. Several students were observed returning to the flavor station after lunch to take packets of peanut butter and/or honey on their way to recess. Some of these packets were splattered outdoors on school fences and sidewalks. Two students sprinkled excessive amounts of cinnamon/sugar onto their trays. Two kindergarten students were observed placing yogurt serving spoons in their mouths. Following these incidents, the food service staff began removing the flavor station after each class was served and returning it prior to the arrival of the next class. This prevented students from taking additional condiments on their way to recess. Due to the issue of peanut butter packets leaving the cafeteria, the school district cancelled the flavor station on Friday of the second week and Monday of the third week. It should be noted that students at this school have always self-served their salad bar selections, including spoons for ranch dressing and salsa, without issues of mischief or undue mess.

During the third week, all students understood which condiments the flavor station offered and how to pair them with their F&V. The children moved more quickly along the flavor station tables, asking for specific condiments. One student, upon realizing that his tray contained a whole apple, quickly returned to the salad bar for slices because he remembered they were easier to dunk into peanut butter. During the third week, only one instance was observed of a student attempting to approach the closed flavor station after lunch in an (unsuccessful) attempt to acquire more peanut butter packets.

#### Limitations

CSES had an existing salad bar, participated in the USDA NSLP, and enrolled a large population of students who qualify for FRLs. The results reported herein may not

67

be generalizable to schools without salad bars or with differing demographics. CSES operated one of the highest functioning kitchens in the school district; less efficient school kitchens were not considered for inclusion. The 17g increase in the present study was realized over three weeks in October and November. In previous years, the DCN observed that salad bar F&V selection appeared to increase throughout the semester. However, neither consumption nor waste were measured by the DCN. For each lunch session, CSES routinely offers at least eight different choices of fruits and eight different choices of vegetables. The school district was experiencing delivery issues with their produce supplier during the fall 2018 semester and this may have imparted slightly more variability than normal in salad bar offerings.

High survey nonresponse has potential to impart sampling bias.<sup>185</sup> Although the teacher survey response rate was low, studies evaluating the accuracy of surveys have found that low response rates can provide results that are statistically meaningful.<sup>186,187</sup> One third of Food Service staff and teachers felt that a lack of preparedness (training or time) was a significant challenge to maintaining the FFVP. Investigators in the present study were in close communication with district administrators, school administrators, and the DCN. In future studies, investigators should seek to create a more open dialogue with school employees who are likely to interact with the salad bar and flavor station.

Only 25% of staff indicated that mess was a major challenge. Reported incidents of messiness were largely a function of the distribution mechanism. Packets of peanut butter and honey could be removed from the cafeteria by students, a problem catalyst that would be removed by implementing a pump distribution mechanism. Had this been done in the current study, it may have improved staff perceptions of messiness related to providing the flavor station. The current study pilot trail data are not complex. The limitations of this study are items that can be addressed in follow up studies. This study was limited by the type of distribution mechanisms available. Peanut butter and honey were served in packets, but bulk jars were more affordable and would permit little or no mess outside of the cafeteria. Yogurt was distributed in a tub but adding a pump may also improve its distribution. The DCN was not able to obtain and implement pumps in time for inclusion in this study. To conserve costs, the school district provided an existing supply of parmesan cheese packets, but these were exhausted by the end of the first week and loose parmesan cheese was substituted.

#### Feasibility

The present study assessed the viability of providing a flavor station to improve the palatability of salad bar F&V in an elementary school cafeteria. The cost of taste test materials included F&V samples, condiment samples, 2 oz cups, and napkins. Eight investigative staff prepared all food and trayed all sample cups in approximately three hours. These same staff were enough to facilitate a smooth taste testing process. Each staff member worked on a specific task. As some staff cleared soiled cups, others collected or handed out survey sheets, while others delivered new samples. Fewer staff could have prepared the sample cups. During the taste tests, an approximate 1:4 ratio of investigative staff to students seemed ideal; a higher ratio might have formed a less rigorous process. Most children were very attentive during the 45-minute tastings but it is unknown how much longer their attention may have been held. LSED administration and CSES staff were very accommodating of this research project and there was a high degree of trust between them and the investigative staff. The efficiency with which the CSES food service staff operated the school kitchen helped ensure this project's success.

69

The choice to use condiment packets instead of pumps was an issue that follow up studies need not replicate. Other school principals within LESD have expressed interest in implementing the flavor station and district administration is supportive of nutrition research.

The present study provides a conceptual framework for implementing a flavor station within an elementary school cafeteria. For future similar studies, a project checklist should include the following:

- 1. Assess children's condiment/F&V taste preferences
- 2. Provide winning flavors that enhance the taste of F&V
- 3. Measure consumption pretest and posttest
- 4. Gather perceptions of the school staff related to F&V and to the intervention
- 5. Assess costs associated with implementing and maintain the flavor station

#### **Next Steps**

The flavor station design employed in this study demonstrated that the provision of condiments near a salad bar can increase children's lunchtime F&V intake. The affordability and simplicity of the flavor station suggests that it can be easily replicated in other schools, although this remains to be tested. In the current study, peanut butter was children's favorite and most selected condiment. The current study evaluated individual peanut butter packets, but a more affordable solution is to purchase bulk creamy peanut butter and dispense it with a pump mechanism. Moreover, dispensing condiments in a pump will discourage the removal of peanut butter from the cafeteria and eliminate opportunities for mischief related to the smashing of packets. Thus, a future study should compare the feasibility of pump dispensers compared with packets or serving spoons. The distribution mechanisms of other condiments could be evaluated likewise. The USDA provides commodity yogurt to NSLP schools. Given that yogurt's taste was rated highly by children, and that is was the second most frequently consumed condiment outside of school, a future study should further evaluate yogurt for inclusion as a salad bar condiment. Including an alternative to peanut butter would also be in line with the USDA's directive to make healthy school foods accessible to all students.<sup>177</sup> Key takeaways from the current study are that 1) peanut butter was highly popular; 2) peanut butter can be dispensed more affordably in bulk; 3) the flavor station was inexpensive to implement. LESD comprises 11 elementary schools and follow up studies should attempt to include more of these locations. A possible quasiexperimental design would be to create five pairs from 10 schools (excluding CSES), matched on similar student demographics and randomly assigned to receive either a flavor station with peanut butter pump or serve as a passive control. This would provide data at the district level and perhaps facilitate recruitment of other school systems for future studies.

A typical goal of school F&V interventions is to cause children to consume more F&V. However, an alternative strategy may be to encourage children to waste less F&V. In the current study, the proportion of F&V waste was reduced by 3%. A future study could focus on how children use condiments; for example, dispensing directly onto F&V or dispensing into a cup. The duration of a follow-up intervention should be extended to evaluate whether changes are sustained through the academic year. Given the variety of possible condiment/F&V combinations, more combinations should be evaluated. This could be done through taste tests in which peanut butter is paired with an extensive variety of F&V. These taste tests could be followed by marketing or educational phases that would communicate the most popular pairings to students. The primary goal building children aware of imaginable pairing choices is to increase F&V consumption and decrease F&V waste. However, an added benefit might be to flatten the flavor station learning curve and smooth the flow of foot traffic through the lunch line. Given the occasional congestion around the flavor station, its arrangement and layout should be examined further. Horizontal and vertical placement in relation to salad bar traffic flow could be compared. Placing the condiment(s) directly on the salad bar or in other areas of the cafeteria might also be evaluated to determine which configuration produces the least condiment mess and best flow of foot traffic.

The teacher survey response rate was lower than anticipated. A future study should seek to reassess the attitudes and beliefs of food service staff and teachers about child nutrition, school F&V, and the flavor station. A gift card incentive could be offered to increase participation rates for school staff surveys. In the context of school F&V interventions, food service staff appear to be an under-evaluated demographic. Many of the food service staff at CSES did not have their own computer at work, nor a school email address. In addition to re-issuing web-based surveys, opinions could also be gathered via printed surveys that are delivered directly to staff, or through focus groups. There is a lack of research about salad bar F&V flavorings and school food service staff perceptions of related interventions. More research is needed because school lunch is an important source of F&V for many children.

#### Conclusions

This pilot trial found that the provision of condiments that are rated highly by children can increase children's consumption of F&V. Many adults would not consider eating their F&V without flavorings, yet children are often expected to consume unflavored F&V. The simple addition of a peanut butter pump during school lunch is an

72

affordable strategy to encourage children to eat more F&V. Peanut butter is a shelfstable, nutrient-dense food that pairs well with a variety of F&V and aids in the absorption of fat-soluble vitamins. Providing a flavor station with peanut butter in packets or via a pump mechanism is a sustainable solution that is supported by the USDA's commodity pricing program and the FNS school nutrition guidelines, making it an excellent choice for school administrators seeking to improve their student's F&V consumption.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Lorson BA, Melgar-Quinonez H, Taylor CA. Correlates of fruit and vegetable intakes in US children. *J Am Diet Assoc.* 2009;109(3):474-478.
- 2. V M, L R, O TR, Pietinen P, Viikari J. Longitudinal changes in diet from childhood into adulthood with respect to risk of cardiovascular diseases: The cardiovascular risk in young finns study. *Eur J Clin Nutr*. 2004;58(7):1038.
- 3. Ness AR, Maynard M, Frankel S, et al. Diet in childhood and adult cardiovascular and all cause mortality: The boyd orr cohort. *Heart*. 2005;91(7):894-898.
- 4. Moore LL, Singer MR, Bradlee ML, et al. Intake of fruits, vegetables, and dairy products in early childhood and subsequent blood pressure change. *Epidemiology*. 2005:4-11.
- 5. Antova T, Pattenden S, Nikiforov B, et al. Nutrition and respiratory health in children in six central and eastern european countries. *Thorax*. 2003;58(3):231-236.
- 6. Frankel S, Gunnell DJ, Peters TJ, Maynard M, Davey Smith G. Childhood energy intake and adult mortality from cancer: The boyd orr cohort study. *BMJ*. 1998;316(7130):499-504.
- 7. Mossberg H. 40-year follow-up of overweight children. *The Lancet*. 1989;334(8661):491-493.
- 8. Lien N, Lytle LA, Klepp K. Stability in consumption of fruit, vegetables, and sugary foods in a cohort from age 14 to age 21. *Prev Med.* 2001;33(3):217-226.
- 9. Ello-Martin J, Roe L, Ledikwe J, Beach A, Rolls B. Dietary energy density in the treatment of obesity: A year-long trial comparing 2 weight-loss diets. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2007;85(6):1465-1477.
- 10. Rolls BJ, Ello-Martin JA, Tohill BC. What can intervention studies tell us about the relationship between fruit and vegetable consumption and weight management? *Nutr Rev.* 2004;62(1):1-17.
- 11. Pedersen T, Meilstrup C, Holstein B, Rasmussen M. Fruit and vegetable intake is associated with frequency of breakfast, lunch and evening meal: Cross-sectional study of 11-, 13-, and 15-year-olds. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*. 2012;9:9.
- 12. Polonsky HM, Davey A, Bauer KW, et al. Breakfast quality varies by location among low-income ethnically diverse children in public urban schools. *Journal of nutrition education and behavior*. 2017.

- 13. Nicklas TA, O'Neil C, Myers L. The importance of breakfast consumption to nutrition of children, adolescents, and young adults. *Nutr Today*. 2004;39(1):30-39.
- 14. Ohri-Vachaspati P, Dachenhaus E, Gruner J, Mollner K, Hekler EB, Todd M. Fresh fruit and vegetable program and requests for fruits and vegetables outside school settings. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*. 2018.
- 15. Tammelin R, Yang X, Leskinen E, et al. Tracking of physical activity from early childhood through youth into adulthood. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2014;46:955-962.
- 16. Serdula MK, Ivery D, Coates RJ, Freedman DS, Williamson DF, Byers T. Do obese children become obese adults? A review of the literature. *Prev Med.* 1993;22(2):167-177.
- 17. US Department of Agriculture, Food and Nutrition Service. Child nutrition tables. Http://Www.fns.usda.gov/pd/child-nutrition-tables. . Published Published 2017. Updated Published February 2, 2017Accessed March 3, 2018.
- 18. Briefel RR, Crepinsek MK, Cabili C, Wilson A, Gleason PM. School food environments and practices affect dietary behaviors of US public school children. *J Am Diet Assoc.* 2009;109(2):S91-S107.
- 19. Bergman EA, Buergel NS, Joseph E, Sanchez A. Time spent by schoolchildren to eat lunch. *J Am Diet Assoc.* 2000;100(6):696-698.
- 20. Morris MS, Picciano MF, Jacques PF, Selhub J. Plasma pyridoxal 5'-phosphate in the US population: The national health and nutrition examination survey, 2003-2004. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2008;87(5):1446-1454.
- 21. Rucker RB, Suttie JW, McCormick DB. Handbook of vitamins. CRC Press; 2001.
- 22. Vedrina-Dragojević I, Šebečić B. Effect of frozen storage on the degree of vitamin B6degradation in different foodsDer einfluß der gefrierlagerung auf den vitamin-B6verlust bei verschiedenen lebensmitteln. *Zeitschrift für Lebensmittel-Untersuchung und Forschung*. 1994;198(1):44-46.
- 23. Reynolds RD. Bioavailability of vitamin B-6 from plant foods. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 1988;48(3):863-867.
- 24. Walker RE, Keane CR, Burke JG. Disparities and access to healthy food in the united states: A review of food deserts literature. *Health and Place*. 2010;16(5):876-884.
- 25. Preston D, Morales M, Plunk A. O022 the relationship between asthma and food deserts in the hampton roads area. *Annals of Allergy, Asthma & Immunology*. 2016;117(5):S8-S8.

- 26. Buzby JC, Guthrie JF, Kantor LS. *Evaluation of the USDA fruit and vegetable pilot program: Report to congress*. United States Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service, Food Assistance & Nutrition Research Program; 2003.
- 27. Richardson L, O'Brien KM. BC school fruit and vegetable nutritional program in first nations schools. . 2012.
- 28. Jones BA, Madden GJ, Wengreen HJ, Aguilar SS, Desjardins EA. Gamification of dietary decision-making in an elementary-school cafeteria. *PLoS One*. 2014;9(4):e93872.
- 29. Tanaka C, Richards KL, Takeuchi LS, Otani M, Maddock J. Modifying the recess before lunch program: A pilot study in kaneohe elementary school. *California J Health Promot*. 2005;3(4):1-7.
- 30. Cohen JF, Smit LA, Parker E, et al. Long-term impact of a chef on school lunch consumption: Findings from a 2-year pilot study in boston middle schools. *J Acad Nutr Diet*. 2012;112(6):927-933.
- 31. Appleton K, Hemingway A, Saulais L, et al. Increasing vegetable intakes: Rationale and systematic review of published interventions. *Eur J Nutr*. 2016;55(3):869-896.
- 32. Wolfenden L, Wyse RJ, Britton BI, et al. Interventions for increasing fruit and vegetable consumption in children aged 5 years and under. *The Cochrane Library*. 2012.
- 33. Archer E, Hand GA, Blair SN. Validity of US nutritional surveillance: National health and nutrition examination survey caloric energy intake data, 1971–2010. *PloS one*. 2013;8(10):e76632.
- 34. Lakkakula A, Geaghan J, Zanovec M, Pierce S, Tuuri G. Repeated taste exposure increases liking for vegetables by low-income elementary school children. *Appetite*. 2010;55(2):226-231.
- 35. Go AS, Mozaffarian D, Roger VL, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics--2014 update: A report from the american heart association. *Circulation*. 2014;129(3):e28-e292.
- 36. Lee-Kwan SH, Moore LV, Blanck HM, Harris DM, Galuska D. Disparities in statespecific adult fruit and vegetable consumption - united states, 2015. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2017;66(45):1241-1247.
- 37. Wang X, Ouyang Y, Liu J, et al. Fruit and vegetable consumption and mortality from all causes, cardiovascular disease, and cancer: Systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *BMJ* : *British Medical Journal*. 2014;349.

- 38. He FJ, Nowson CA, MacGregor GA. Fruit and vegetable consumption and stroke: Meta-analysis of cohort studies. *The Lancet*. 2006;367(9507):320-326.
- 39. US Department of Health and Human Services. 2015–2020 dietary guidelines for americans. *Washington (DC): USDA*. 2015.
- 40. Havas S, Heimendinger J, Reynolds K, et al. 5 a day for better health: A new research initiative. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*. 1994;94(1):32-36.
- 41. Wardle J, Cooke LJ, Gibson EL, Sapochnik M, Sheiham A, Lawson M. Increasing children's acceptance of vegetables; a randomized trial of parent-led exposure. *Appetite*. 2003;40(2):155-162.
- 42. Cooke L, Wardle J, Gibson E, Sapochnik M, Sheiham A, Lawson M. Demographic, familial and trait predictors of fruit and vegetable consumption by pre-school children. *Public Health Nutr.* 2004;7(2):295-302.
- 43. Rasmussen M, Krølner R, Klepp K, et al. Determinants of fruit and vegetable consumption among children and adolescents: A review of the literature. part I: Quantitative studies. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*. 2006;3(1):22.
- 44. Birch LL. Development of food preferences. Annu Rev Nutr. 1999;19:41.
- 45. Horning ML, Fulkerson JA, Friend SE, Story M. Reasons parents buy prepackaged, processed meals: It is more complicated than "I don't have time". *J Nutr Educ Behav*. 2017;49(1):60-66.e1.
- 46. World Health Organization. Promoting fruit and vegetable consumption around the world. *Dostupno na adresi:* <u>http://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/fruit/en/.Datum</u> pristupa. 2003;10.
- 47. Slavin JL, Lloyd B. Health benefits of fruits and vegetables. *Advances in nutrition*. 2012;3(4):506-516.
- 48. Clifford MN. Anthocyanins nature, occurrence and dietary burden. *J Sci Food Agric*. 2000;80(7):1063-1072.
- 49. Wang H, Cao G, Prior RL. Oxygen radical absorbing capacity of anthocyanins. *J Agric Food Chem.* 1997;45(2):304-309.
- 50. Sancho RAS, Pastore GM. Evaluation of the effects of anthocyanins in type 2 diabetes. *Food Res Int*. 2012;46(1):378-386.
- 51. Nayak B, Liu RH, Tang J. Effect of processing on phenolic antioxidants of fruits, vegetables, and grains—a review. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr*. 2015;55(7):887-918.

- 52. Hertog MG, Hollman PC, Katan MB. Content of potentially anticarcinogenic flavonoids of 28 vegetables and 9 fruits commonly consumed in the netherlands. *J Agric Food Chem.* 1992;40(12):2379-2383.
- 53. Hollman PCH, Arts ICW. Flavonols, flavones and flavanols–nature, occurrence and dietary burden. *J Sci Food Agric*. 2000;80(7):1081-1093.
- 54. Jabs J, Devine CM, Bisogni CA, Farrell TJ, Jastran M, Wethington E. Trying to find the quickest way: Employed mothers' constructions of time for food. *J Nutr Educ Behav.* 2007;39(1):18-25.
- 55. Esmaillzadeh A, Kimiagar M, Mehrabi Y, Azadbakht L, Hu FB, Willett WC. Dietary patterns, insulin resistance, and prevalence of the metabolic syndrome in women–. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2007;85(3):910-918.
- 56. Stewart H, Hyman J, Carlson A, Frazão E. *The cost of satisfying fruit and vegetable recommendations in the dietary guidelines*. United States Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service; 2016.
- 57. Allen LH, De Benoist B, Dary O, Hurrell R, World Health Organization. Guidelines on food fortification with micronutrients. . 2006.
- 58. Tin SPP, Ho SY, Mak KH, Wan KL, Lam TH. Lifestyle and socioeconomic correlates of breakfast skipping in hong kong primary 4 schoolchildren. *Prev Med*. 2011;52(3-4):250-253.
- 59. Timperio A, Ball K, Roberts R, Campbell K, Andrianopoulos N, Crawford D. Children's fruit and vegetable intake: Associations with the neighbourhood food environment. *Prev Med.* 2008;46(4):331-335.
- 60. Saadeh D, Salameh P, Baldi I, Raherison C. Diet and allergic diseases among population aged 0 to 18 years: Myth or reality? *Nutrients*. 2013;5(9):3399-3423.
- 61. Rosenlund H, Kull I, Pershagen G, Wolk A, Wickman M, Bergström A. Fruit and vegetable consumption in relation to allergy: Disease-related modification of consumption? *J Allergy Clin Immunol*. 2011;127(5):1219-1225.
- 62. De Batlle J, Garcia-Aymerich J, Barraza-Villarreal A, Antó J, Romieu I. Mediterranean diet is associated with reduced asthma and rhinitis in mexican children. *Allergy*. 2008;63(10):1310-1316.
- 63. Weiland SK, Bjorksten B, Brunekreef B, et al. Phase II of the international study of asthma and allergies in childhood (ISAAC II): Rationale and methods. *Eur Respir J*. 2004;24(3):406-412.
- 64. Nagel G, Weinmayr G, Kleiner A, Garcia-Marcos L, Strachan DP, ISAAC Phase Two Study Group. Effect of diet on asthma and allergic sensitisation in the international

study on allergies and asthma in childhood (ISAAC) phase two. *Thorax*. 2010;65(6):516-522.

- 65. Vassiloudis I, Yiannakouris N, Panagiotakos DB, Apostolopoulos K, Costarelli V. Academic performance in relation to adherence to the mediterranean diet and energy balance behaviors in greek primary schoolchildren. *J Nutr Educ Behav*. 2014;46(3):164-170.
- 66. Esteban-Cornejo I, Izquierdo-Gomez R, Gómez-Martínez S, et al. Adherence to the mediterranean diet and academic performance in youth: The UP&DOWN study. *Eur J Nutr*. 2016;55(3):1133-1140.
- 67. Chatzi L, Torrent M, Romieu I, et al. Mediterranean diet in pregnancy is protective for wheeze and atopy in childhood. *Thorax.* 2008;63(6):507-513.
- 68. Trichopoulou A, Costacou T, Bamia C, Trichopoulos D. Adherence to a mediterranean diet and survival in a greek population. *N Engl J Med.* 2003;348(26):2599-2608.
- 69. Castro-Rodriguez JA, Garcia-Marcos L, Rojas JDA, Valverde-Molina J, Sanchez-Solis M. Mediterranean diet as a protective factor for wheezing in preschool children. *J Pediatr*. 2008;152(6):823-828. e2.
- 70. Caramori G, Papi A. Oxidants and asthma. Thorax. 2004;59(2):170-173.
- 71. Nagel G, Linseisen J. Dietary intake of fatty acids, antioxidants and selected food groups and asthma in adults. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* 2005;59(1):8.
- 72. Dragsted LO, Pedersen A, Hermetter A, et al. The 6-a-day study: Effects of fruit and vegetables on markers of oxidative stress and antioxidative defense in healthy nonsmokers. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2004;79(6):1060-1072.
- 73. Ruiz-Núñez B, Pruimboom L, Dijck-Brouwer DJ, Muskiet FA. Lifestyle and nutritional imbalances associated with western diseases: Causes and consequences of chronic systemic low-grade inflammation in an evolutionary context. *J Nutr Biochem*. 2013;24(7):1183-1201.
- 74. Bellavia A, Larsson SC, Bottai M, Wolk A, Orsini N. Fruit and vegetable consumption and all-cause mortality: A dose-response analysis–. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2013;98(2):454-459.
- 75. Aune D, Giovannucci E, Boffetta P, et al. Fruit and vegetable intake and the risk of cardiovascular disease, total cancer and all-cause mortality—a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Int J Epidemiol*. 2017;46(3):1029-1056.

- 76. Xie Z, Lin H, Fang R, Shen W, Li S, Chen B. Effects of a fruit-vegetable dietary pattern on oxidative stress and genetic damage in coke oven workers: A cross-sectional study. *Environ Health*. 2015;14(1):40.
- 77. Willers SM, Wijga AH, Brunekreef B, et al. Childhood diet and asthma and atopy at 8 years of age: The PIAMA birth cohort study. *Eur Respir J*. 2011;37(5):1060-1067.
- 78. Holt EM, Steffen LM, Moran A, et al. Fruit and vegetable consumption and its relation to markers of inflammation and oxidative stress in adolescents. *J Am Diet Assoc.* 2009;109(3):414-421.
- 79. Liu RH. Health benefits of fruit and vegetables are from additive and synergistic combinations of phytochemicals. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2003;78(3 Suppl):517S-520S.
- 80. Wood LG, Garg ML, Powell H, Gibson PG. Lycopene-rich treatments modify noneosinophilic airway inflammation in asthma: Proof of concept. *Free Radic Res.* 2008;42(1):94-102.
- 81. Eberhardt MV, Lee CY, Liu RH. Antioxidant activity of fresh apples. *Nature*. 2000;405(6789):903.
- 82. Sun J, Chu Y, Wu X, Liu RH. Antioxidant and antiproliferative activities of common fruits. *J Agric Food Chem.* 2002;50(25):7449-7454.
- 83. Kahraman FU, Torun E, Osmanoğlu NK, Oruçlu S, Özer ÖF. Serum oxidative stress parameters and paraoxonase-1 in children and adolescents exposed to passive smoking. *Pediatrics International*. 2017;59(1):68-73.
- 84. Yıldırım F, Sermetow K, Aycicek A, Kocyigit A, Erel O. Increased oxidative stress in preschool children exposed to passive smoking. *Jornal de pediatria*. ;87(6):523-528.
- 85. Romieu I, Sienra-Monge J, Ramírez-Aguilar M, et al. Antioxidant supplementation and lung functions among children with asthma exposed to high levels of air pollutants. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* 2002;166(5):703-709.
- 86. Hennekens CH, Buring JE, Manson JE, et al. Lack of effect of long-term supplementation with beta carotene on the incidence of malignant neoplasms and cardiovascular disease. *N Engl J Med.* 1996;334(18):1145-1149.
- 87. Schwingshackl L, Boeing H, Stelmach-Mardas M, et al. Dietary supplements and risk of cause-specific death, cardiovascular disease, and cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis of primary prevention trials. *Advances In Nutrition*. 2017;8(1):27-39.
- 88. Bjelakovic G, Nikolova D, Gluud LL, Simonetti RG, Gluud C. Antioxidant supplements for prevention of mortality in healthy participants and patients with various diseases. *Cochrane database of systematic reviews*. 2012(3).

- 89. Fortmann SP, Burda BU, Senger CA, Lin JS, Whitlock EP. Vitamin and mineral supplements in the primary prevention of cardiovascular disease and cancer: An updated systematic evidence review for the US preventive services task force. *Ann Intern Med.* 2013;159(12):824-834.
- 90. Knekt P, Jarvinen R, Reunanen A, Maatela J. Flavonoid intake and coronary mortality in finland: A cohort study. *BMJ*. 1996;312(7029):478-481.
- 91. Geleijnse JM, Launer LJ, van der Kuip, Deirdre AM, Hofman A, Witteman J. Inverse association of tea and flavonoid intakes with incident myocardial infarction: The rotterdam study. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2002;75(5):880-886.
- 92. Mullie P, Cécile Pizot, Autier P. Daily milk consumption and all-cause mortality, coronary heart disease and stroke: A systematic review and meta-analysis of observational cohort studies. *BMC Public Health*. 2016;16(1):1-8.
- 93. Wang X, Lin X, Ouyang YY, et al. Red and processed meat consumption and mortality: Dose–response meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *Public Health Nutr*. 2016;19(5):893-905.
- 94. Zeng H, Lazarova DL, Bordonaro M. Mechanisms linking dietary fiber, gut microbiota and colon cancer prevention. *World Journal Of Gastrointestinal Oncology*. 2014;6(2):41-51.
- 95. Bäckhed F, Ley RE, Sonnenburg JL, Peterson DA, Gordon JI. Host-bacterial mutualism in the human intestine. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*. 2005;307(5717):1915.
- 96. Tojo R, Suarez A, Clemente MG, et al. Intestinal microbiota in health and disease: Role of bifidobacteria in gut homeostasis. *World J Gastroenterol*. 2014;20(41):15163-15176.
- 97. De Filippo C, Cavalieri D, Di Paola M, et al. Impact of diet in shaping gut microbiota revealed by a comparative study in children from europe and rural africa. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2010;107(33):14691-14696.
- 98. Gibson GR, Probert HM, Van Loo J, Rastall RA, Roberfroid MB. Dietary modulation of the human colonic microbiota: Updating the concept of prebiotics. *Nutrition research reviews*. 2004;17(2):259-275.
- 99. Zuccotti G, Meneghin F, Aceti A, et al. Probiotics for prevention of atopic diseases in infants: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Allergy*. 2015;70(11):1356-1371.
- 100. Slavin J. Position of the american dietetic association: Health implications of dietary fiber. *J Am Diet Assoc.* 2008;108(10):1716-1731.

- 101. Kaczmarczyk MM, Miller MJ, Freund GG. The health benefits of dietary fiber: Beyond the usual suspects of type 2 diabetes mellitus, cardiovascular disease and colon cancer. *Metab Clin Exp.* 2012;61(8):1058-1066.
- 102. Kranz S, Mitchell DC, Siega-Riz AM, Smiciklas-Wright H. Dietary fiber intake by american preschoolers is associated with more nutrient-dense diets. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*. 2005;105(2):221-225.
- 103. Ma Y, Hu M, Zhou L, et al. Dietary fiber intake and risks of proximal and distal colon cancers: A meta-analysis. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. 2018;97(36):e11678.
- 104. Yao B, Fang H, Xu W, et al. Dietary fiber intake and risk of type 2 diabetes: A dose–response analysis of prospective studies. *Eur J Epidemiol*. 2014;29(2):79-88.
- 105. Kim H, Stote KS, Behall KM, Spears K, Vinyard B, Conway JM. Glucose and insulin responses to whole grain breakfasts varying in soluble fiber,  $\beta$ -glucan: A dose response study in obese women with increased risk for insulin resistance. *Eur J Nutr*. 2009;48(3):170-175.
- 106. Yao B, Fang H, Xu W, et al. Dietary fiber intake and risk of type 2 diabetes: A dose–response analysis of prospective studies. *Eur J Epidemiol*. 2014;29(2):79-88.
- 107. Goodrich JK, Waters JL, Poole AC, et al. Human genetics shape the gut microbiome. *Cell.* 2014;159(4):789-799.
- 108. Rothschild D, Weissbrod O, Barkan E, et al. Environment dominates over host genetics in shaping human gut microbiota. *Nature*. 2018;555(7695):210.
- 109. Bouvard V, Loomis D, Guyton KZ, et al. Carcinogenicity of consumption of red and processed meat. *The Lancet Oncology*. 2015;16(16):1599-1600.
- 110. International Agency for Research on Cancer. IARC monographs evaluate consumption of red meat and processed meat. *Press Release*. 2015(240).
- 111. MacLellan D, Taylor J, Wood K. Food intake and academic performance among adolescents. *Canadian Journal of Dietetic Practice and Research*. 2008;69(3):141-144.
- 112. Øverby NC, Lüdemann E, Høigaard R. Self-reported learning difficulties and dietary intake in norwegian adolescents. *Scand J Public Health*. 2013;41(7):754-760.
- 113. Liu J, Hwang W, Dickerman B, Compher C. Regular breakfast consumption is associated with increased IQ in kindergarten children. *Early Hum Dev*. 2013;89(4):257-262.
- 114. Taki Y, Hashizume H, Sassa Y, et al. Breakfast staple types affect brain gray matter volume and cognitive function in healthy children. *PLoS One*. 2010;5(12):e15213.

- 115. Mahoney CR, Taylor HA, Kanarek RB, Samuel P. Effect of breakfast composition on cognitive processes in elementary school children. *Physiol Behav.* 2005;85(5):635-645.
- 116. Wiles NJ, Northstone K, Emmett P, Lewis G. 'Junk food'diet and childhood behavioural problems: Results from the ALSPAC cohort. *Eur J Clin Nutr*. 2009;63(4):491.
- 117. Jacka FN, Kremer PJ, Leslie ER, et al. Associations between diet quality and depressed mood in adolescents: Results from the australian healthy neighbourhoods study. *Aust NZJ Psychiatry*. 2010;44(5):435-442.
- 118. Herbison CE, Hickling S, Allen KL, et al. Low intake of B-vitamins is associated with poor adolescent mental health and behaviour. *Prev Med.* 2012;55(6):634-638.
- 119. Smith RS. The macrophage theory of depression. *Med Hypotheses*. 1991;35(4):298-306.
- 120. McMartin SE, Kuhle S, Colman I, Kirk SF, Veugelers PJ. Diet quality and mental health in subsequent years among canadian youth. *Public Health Nutr*. 2012;15(12):2253-2258.
- 121. Oddy WH, Robinson M, Ambrosini GL, et al. The association between dietary patterns and mental health in early adolescence. *Prev Med.* 2009;49(1):39-44.
- 122. Rechenberg K. Nutritional interventions in clinical depression. *Clinical Psychological Science*. 2016;4(1):144-162.
- 123. Oddy WH, Allen KL, Trapp GS, et al. Dietary patterns, body mass index and inflammation: Pathways to depression and mental health problems in adolescents. *Brain Behav Immun.* 2018;69:428-439.
- 124. Benton D, Donohoe RT. The effects of nutrients on mood. *Public Health Nutr*. 1999;2(3a):403-409.
- 125. Brozek J, Caster W. Psychologic effects of thiamine restriction and deprivation in normal young men. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 1957;5(2):109-120.
- 126. Sterner RT, Price WR. Restricted riboflavin: Within-subject behavioral effects in humans. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 1973;26(2):150-160.
- 127. Kinsman RA, Hood J. Some behavioral effects of ascorbic acid deficiency. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 1971;24(4):455-464.
- 128. Morris MS, Fava M, Jacques PF, Selhub J, Rosenberg IH. Depression and folate status in the US population. *Psychother Psychosom*. 2003;72(2):80-87.

- 129. Kaplan BJ, Crawford SG, Field CJ, Simpson JSA. Vitamins, minerals, and mood. *Psychol Bull.* 2007;133(5):747.
- 130. Goodman R. Psychometric properties of the strengths and difficulties questionnaire. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. 2001;40(11):1337-1345.
- 131. Murakami K, Miyake Y, Sasaki S, Tanaka K, Arakawa M. Dietary folate, riboflavin, vitamin B-6, and vitamin B-12 and depressive symptoms in early adolescence: The ryukyus child health study. *Psychosom Med.* 2010;72(8):763-768.
- 132. Jackson DB, Vaughn MG, Salas-Wright CP. Poor nutrition and bullying behaviors: A comparison of deviant and non-deviant youth. *J Adolesc*. 2017;57:69-73.
- 133. United States Department of Agriculture. Food access research atlas. <u>https://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/food-access-research-atlas/documentation/</u>. Accessed December 18, 2018.
- 134. Beaulac J, Kristjansson E, Cummins S. A systematic review of food deserts, 1966-2007. *Prev Chronic Dis.* 2009;6(3):A105.
- 135. Jago R, Baranowski T, Baranowski JC, Cullen KW, Thompson D. Distance to food stores & adolescent male fruit and vegetable consumption: Mediation effects. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*. 2007;4(1):35.
- 136. Beydoun MA, Powell LM, Chen X, Wang Y. Food prices are associated with dietary quality, fast food consumption, and body mass index among US children and Adolescents–3. *J Nutr*. 2010;141(2):304-311.
- 137. Caldwell EM, Kobayashi MM, DuBow W, Wytinck S. Perceived access to fruits and vegetables associated with increased consumption. *Public Health Nutr*. 2009;12(10):1743-1750.
- 138. French SA, Story M, Fulkerson JA, Hannan P. An environmental intervention to promote lower-fat food choices in secondary schools: Outcomes of the TACOS study. *Am J Public Health*. 2004;94(9):1507-1512.
- 139. Kohlboeck G, Sausenthaler S, Standl M, et al. Food intake, diet quality and behavioral problems in children: Results from the GINI-plus/LISA-plus studies. *Ann Nutr Metab.* 2012;60(4):247-256.
- 140. Trenca CA, Koenig JQ, Williams PV. Dietary antioxidants and ozone-induced bronchial hyperresponsiveness in adults with asthma. *Archives of Environmental Health: An International Journal.* 2001;56(3):242-249.
- 141. Tecklenburg SL, Mickleborough TD, Fly AD, Bai Y, Stager JM. Ascorbic acid supplementation attenuates exercise-induced bronchoconstriction in patients with asthma. *Respir Med.* 2007;101(8):1770-1778.

- 142. Allam MF, Lucena RA. Selenium supplementation for asthma. *Cochrane Database* of *Systematic Reviews*. 2004(2).
- 143. Kadrabová J, Mad'arič A, Kovačiková Z, Podivínsky F, Ginter E, Gazdík F. Selenium status is decreased in patients with intrinsic asthma. *Biol Trace Elem Res*. 1996;52(3):241-248.
- 144. Fairweather-Tait SJ, Collings R, Hurst R. Selenium bioavailability: Current knowledge and future research requirements–. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2010;91(5):1484S-1491S.
- 145. Au LE, Rosen NJ, Fenton K, Hecht K, Ritchie LD. Eating school lunch is associated with higher diet quality among elementary school students. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*. 2016;116(11):1817-1824.
- 146. Wechsler H, Devereaux RS, Davis M, Collins J. Using the school environment to promote physical activity and healthy eating. *Prev Med.* 2000;31(2):S121-S137.
- 147. Evans CE, Christian MS, Cleghorn CL, Greenwood DC, Cade JE. Systematic review and meta-analysis of school-based interventions to improve daily fruit and vegetable intake in children aged 5 to 12 y–. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2012;96(4):889-901.
- 148. Van Cauwenberghe E, Maes L, Spittaels H, et al. Effectiveness of school-based interventions in europe to promote healthy nutrition in children and adolescents: Systematic review of published and 'grey'literature. *Br J Nutr*. 2010;103(6):781-797.
- 149. Birch LL. Effects of experience on the modification of food acceptance patterns. *Ann NYAcad Sci.* 1989;561(1):209-216.
- 150. Bere E, Klepp K. Changes in accessibility and preferences predict children's future fruit and vegetable intake. *The international journal of behavioral nutrition and physical activity*. 2005;2:15-15.
- 151. Neumark-Sztainer D, Wall M, Perry C, Story M. Correlates of fruit and vegetable intake among adolescents: Findings from project EAT. *Prev Med.* 2003;37(3):198-208.
- 152. Ransley JK, Greenwood DC, Cade JE, et al. Does the school fruit and vegetable scheme improve children's diet? A non-randomised controlled trial. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. 2007;61(8):699-703.
- 153. Cullen KW, Watson KB, Konarik M. Differences in fruit and vegetable exposure and preferences among adolescents receiving free fruit and vegetable snacks at school. *Appetite*. 2009;52(3):740-744.
- 154. Schacter DL, Slotnick SD. The cognitive neuroscience of memory distortion. *Neuron*. 2004;44(1):149-160.

- 155. Gallo DA, Roberts MJ, Seamon JG. Remembering words not presented in lists: Can we avoid creating false memories? *Psychon Bull Rev.* 1997;4(2):271-276.
- 156. Ashfield-Watt PA, Stewart EA, Scheffer JA. A pilot study of the effect of providing daily free fruit to primary-school children in auckland, new zealand. *Public Health Nutr*. 2009;12(5):693-701.
- 157. Kirks BA, Wolff HK. A comparison of methods for plate waste determinations. *J Am Diet Assoc.* 1985;85(3):328-331.
- 158. Moreno-Black G, Stockard J. Salad bar selection patterns of elementary school children. *Appetite*. 2018;120:136-144.
- 159. Shankar AV, Gittelsohn J, Stallings R, et al. Comparison of visual estimates of children's portion sizes under both shared-plate and individual-plate conditions. *J Am Diet Assoc.* 2001;101(1):47-52.
- 160. Adams MA, Bruening M, Ohri-Vachaspati P, Hurley JC. Location of school lunch salad bars and fruit and vegetable consumption in middle schools: A cross-sectional plate waste study. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*. 2016;116(3):407-416.
- 161. Cohen JF, Richardson S, Austin SB, Economos CD, Rimm EB. School lunch waste among middle school students: Nutrients consumed and costs. *Am J Prev Med*. 2013;44(2):114-121.
- 162. Nichols PJ, Porter C, Hammond L, Arjmandi BH. Food intake may be determined by plate waste in a retirement living center. *J Am Diet Assoc.* 2002;102(8):1142-1144.
- 163. Reinaerts E, Crutzen R, Candel M, De Vries N, De Nooijer J. Increasing fruit and vegetable intake among children: Comparing long-term effects of a free distribution and a multicomponent program. *Health Educ Res.* 2008;23(6):987-996.
- 164. Sahota P, Rudolf MC, Dixey R, Hill AJ, Barth JH, Cade J. Randomised controlled trial of primary school based intervention to reduce risk factors for obesity. *BMJ*. 2001;323(7320):1029-1032.
- 165. Anderson EL, Howe LD, Kipping RR, et al. Long-term effects of the active for life year 5 (AFLY5) school-based cluster-randomised controlled trial. *BMJ Open*. 2016;6(11):e010957-2015-010957.
- 166. Amaro S, Viggiano A, Di Costanzo A, et al. Kaledo, a new educational board-game, gives nutritional rudiments and encourages healthy eating in children: A pilot cluster randomized trial. *Eur J Pediatr*. 2006;165(9):630-635.
- 167. Bartlett S, Olsho L, Klerman J, Patlan K, Blocklin M, Connor P. Evaluation of the fresh fruit and vegetable program (FFVP): Final evaluation report. *US Department of*

*Agriculture, Food and Nutrition Service.2013.Consultado el 01/04/2014 Disponible en <u>http://www.fns.usda.gov/sites/default/files/FFVP.pdf</u>. 2013.* 

- 168. Miller N, Reicks M, Redden JP, Mann T, Mykerezi E, Vickers Z. Increasing portion sizes of fruits and vegetables in an elementary school lunch program can increase fruit and vegetable consumption. *Appetite*. 2015;91:426-430.
- 169. Getlinger MJ, Laughlin CV, Bell E, Akre C, Arjmandi BH. Food waste is reduced when elementary-school children have recess before lunch. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*. 1996;96(9):906.
- 170. Horne P. Changing the nation's diet: A programme to increase children's consumption of fruit and vegetables. . 2002.
- 171. Upton D, Upton P, Taylor C. Increasing children's lunchtime consumption of fruit and vegetables: An evaluation of the food dudes programme. *Public Health Nutr*. 2013;16(6):1066-1072.
- 172. US Department of Agriculture, Food and Nutrition Service. Nutrition standards in the national school lunch and school breakfast programs; final rule. *Fed Regist*. 2012;77(17):4088-4167.
- 173. Monyo ES, Njoroge SMC, Coe R, et al. Occurrence and distribution of aflatoxin contamination in groundnuts (arachis hypogaea L) and population density of aflatoxigenic aspergilli in malawi. *Crop Protection*. 2012;42:149-155.
- 174. Settaluri V, Kandala C, Puppala N, Sundaram J. Peanuts and their nutritional aspects—a review. *Food and nutrition Sciences*. 2012;3(12):1644.
- 175. USDA. National nutrient database for standard reference 1 release april, 2018. .
- 176. Arya SS, Salve AR, Chauhan S. Peanuts as functional food: A review. *Journal of food science and technology*. 2016;53(1):31-41.
- 177. USDA-FNS. Accommodating children with disabilities in the school meal programs, 2017. .
- 178. Wilson KT. Technology usefulness and impact on school foodservice employees' perceptions of organizational support. . 2007.
- 179. Dunn C, Thomas C, Ward D, Pegram L, Webber K, Cullitan C. Design and implementation of a nutrition and physical activity curriculum for child care settings. *Prev Chronic Dis.* 2006;3(2):A58.
- 180. Witt KE, Dunn C. Increasing fruit and vegetable consumption among preschoolers: Evaluation of color me healthy. *Journal of nutrition education and behavior*. 2012;44(2):107-113.

- 181. Sweitzer SJ, Briley ME, Roberts-Gray C, et al. Lunch is in the bag: Increasing fruits, vegetables, and whole grains in sack lunches of preschool-aged children. *J Am Diet Assoc.* 2010;110(7):1058-1064.
- 182. Bai Y, Feldman C, Wunderlich SM, Aletras SC. Process evaluation of the fresh fruit and vegetable program implementation in a new jersey elementary school. *Spec Educ*. 2011;2:11.
- 183. Rose G. Sick individuals and sick populations. Int J Epidemiol. 2001;30(3):427-432.
- 184. Rose G. The strategy of preventive medicine. *The strategy of preventive medicine*. 1992.
- 185. Eysenbach G. Improving the quality of web surveys: The checklist for reporting results of internet E-surveys (CHERRIES). *J Med Internet Res.* 2004;6(3):e34.
- 186. Visser PS, Krosnick JA, Marquette J, Curtin M. Mail surveys for election forecasting? an evaluation of the columbus dispatch poll. *Public Opin Q*. 1996;60(2):181-227.
- 187. Keeter S, Kennedy C, Dimock M, Best J, Craighill P. Gauging the impact of growing nonresponse on estimates from a national RDD telephone survey. *International Journal of Public Opinion Quarterly*. 2006;70(5):759-779.

#### APPENDIX A

### IRB APPROVAL



## NOT HUMAN SUBJECTS RESEARCH DETERMINATION

Carol Johnston SNHP: Nutrition 602/827-2265 CAROL.JOHNSTON@asu.edu

Dear Carol Johnston:

On 11/15/2016 the ASU IRB reviewed the following protocol:

Type of Review:	Initial Study
Title:	Use of Evocative Art to Improve Children's Fruit
	and Vegetable Consumption
Investigator:	Carol Johnston
IRB ID:	STUDY00005289
Funding:	None
Grant Title:	None
Grant ID:	None
Documents Reviewed:	<ul> <li>example art work, Category: Technical</li> </ul>
	materials/diagrams;
	<ul> <li>school district approval, Category: Off-site</li> </ul>
	authorizations (school permission, other IRB
	approvals, Tribal permission etc);
	<ul> <li>protocol, Category: IRB Protocol;</li> </ul>

The IRB determined that the proposed activity is not research involving human subjects as defined by DHHS and FDA regulations.

IRB review and approval by Arizona State University is not required. This determination applies only to the activities described in the IRB submission and does not apply should any changes be made. If changes are made and there are questions about whether the activities would change the determination, contact the IRB at research.integrity@asu.edu to determine the next steps.



## APPROVAL: EXPEDITED REVIEW

Carol Johnston Nutrition 602/827-2265 CAROL.JOHNSTON@asu.edu

Dear Carol Johnston:

On 6/14/2018 the ASU IRB reviewed the following protocol:

Type of Review:	Initial Study
Title:	Child-favored condiments for salad bars
	to promote
	fruit and vegetable consumption in an
	elementary
	school setting
Investigator:	Carol Johnston
IRB ID:	STUDY00008351
Category of review:	(7)(b) Social science methods, (7)(a)
	Behavioral
	research
Funding:	None
Grant Title:	None
Grant ID:	None
Documents Reviewed:	Corte Sierra Elementary School email,
	Category:
	Off-site authorizations (school
	permission, other IRB
	approvals, Tribal permission etc);
	Camp CRAVE approval, Category:
	Off-site
	authorizations (school permission, other
	IRB
	approvals, Tribal permission etc);
	• Assent, Category: Consent Form;
	• Camp CRAVE waiver, Category:
	Other (to reflect
	anything not captured above):

• parental permission site 2, Category:
Consent Form;
• Testing sheet, Category: Measures
(Survey
questions/Interview questions /interview
guides/focus
group questions);
<ul> <li>protocol, Category: IRB Protocol;</li> </ul>
• parental permission site 1, Category:
Consent Form;
Camp CRAVE release photo release
form, Category:
Other (to reflect anything not captured
above);

The IRB approved the protocol from 6/14/2018 to 6/13/2019 inclusive. Three weeks before 6/13/2019 you are to submit a completed Continuing Review application and required attachments to request continuing approval or closure.

If continuing review approval is not granted before the expiration date of 6/13/2019 approval of this protocol expires on that date. When consent is appropriate, you must use final, watermarked versions available under the "Documents" tab in ERA-IRB.

In conducting this protocol you are required to follow the requirements listed in the INVESTIGATOR MANUAL (HRP-103).

#### APPENDIX B

# PROJECT TIMELINE

rioject timeline non	i iviay z	010 - 1	Decen							
Study Activity	May	Jun	Jul	Aug	Sep	Oct	Nov	Dec	Jan	Feb
IRB approval	X									
School recruitment	X									
Staff training	Х					Х				
Taste testing	Х	Х		X						
Taste test analysis		Х		X						
F&V baseline data						v				
collection						×				
Flavor station						v				
implementation						^	^			
F&V intervention						x	x x	x		
data collection										
Staff surveys							X			
Data analysis (F&V,										
costs, surveys)							^	^	^	
Results								v	v	v
dissemination								^	^	^

## Project timeline from May 2018 – December 2018.

## APPENDIX C

#### TASTE TEST SURVEY









# How often do you eat peanut butter?

day days week a month a year	Every day	Most days	Once a week	Several times a month	Several times a year	Rarely/never
------------------------------	--------------	--------------	----------------	--------------------------	-------------------------	--------------

## APPENDIX D

## LUNCH LINE FLOW

